INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

UMI®



Temple University Doctoral Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Board

Title of Dissertation:Regularity of a Class of Weak Solutions to the
Monge-Ampere Equation

Author: David Hartenstine (Please type)

Date of Defense: May 18, 2001 (Please type)

Dissertation Examining Committee:(please type)

Cristian E. Gutierrez Dissertation Advisory Committee Chairperson

Peter S. Riseborough

Shif Berhanu

Eric Grinberg

Cristian E. Gutierrez Examining Committee Chairperson

Read and Approved By: (Signatures)

OU mmittee

Date Submitted to Graduate Board:

13/01

Accepted by the Graduate Board of Temple University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

(Dean of the Gradgate School)

Date _____

REGULARITY OF A CLASS OF WEAK SOLUTIONS TO THE MONGE-AMPÈRE EQUATION

A Dissertation Submitted to the Temple University Graduate Board

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

> by David Hartenstine August, 2001

UMI Number: 3031529

Copyright 2001 by Hartenstine, David Ashley

All rights reserved.

UMI®

UMI Microform 3031529

Copyright 2002 by Bell & Howell Information and Learning Company. All rights reserved. This microform edition is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.

> Bell & Howell Information and Learning Company 300 North Zeeb Road P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

© by David Hartenstine August, 2001 All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

REGULARITY OF A CLASS OF WEAK SOLUTIONS TO THE MONGE-AMPÈRE EQUATION

David Hartenstine DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY Temple University. August. 2001 Professor Cristian Gutiérrez, Chair

In this dissertation we examine the regularity properties of Aleksandrov solutions to the Monge-Ampère equation det $D^2 u = \mu$, where the Borel measure μ satisfies a weak condition, D_{ϵ} , on the sections of u. The condition referred to is actually a family of conditions, indexed by $\epsilon \in (0, 1]$. The case $\epsilon = 1$ corresponds to a doubling property. The doubling condition implies D_{ϵ} for every ϵ . We show that when the function u is globally defined and its Monge-Ampère measure Mu is D_{ϵ} , then Mu is actually doubling, so that the conditions are equivalent in this case. We then explore the regularity properties of functions u defined on bounded domains for which Mu is D_{ϵ} . These results are an extension of the regularity theory available when $0 < \lambda \le \mu \le \Lambda$ to a wider class of measures.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor. Professor Cristian Gutiérrez, for his patience and constant support throughout the preparation of this thesis. I would also like to thank him for recommending this problem to me, and for being so generous with his time, his insight, his experience and his valuable suggestions.

Professor Shiferaw Berhanu has in many ways been a second advisor to me. I have benefitted greatly from his expertise and encouragement during my studies at Temple University, and I am very grateful.

At this time I would also like to acknowledge all of the other members of the Temple faculty who have made my time here productive and enjoyable. I am particularly indebted to Professor Eric Grinberg, a member of my thesis committee and a source of good advice, and Professor Gerardo Mendoza, for helping to develop my interest in analysis. I would also like to thank some people who had a great impact on my early studies and first years of graduate work: Professors Boris Datskovsky, Dan Reich, Jack Schiller and Alu Srinivasan.

Finally, I would like to thank my fellow student, Federico Tournier, for many helpful discussions. To my wife Mary Beth and my parents.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Α	BSTRACT	iv
A	CKNOWLEDGEMENTS	v
D	EDICATION	vi
1	INTRODUCTION	1
2	PRELIMINARY MATERIAL	4
	2.1 Weak Solution	4
	2.2 Cross-Sections and Normalization	6
	2.3 Normalized Distance to the Boundary	9
	2.4 Three Important Estimates	12
	2.5 Hausdorff Metric	17
3	REGULARITY PROPERTIES	25
	3.1 Comparison of D_1 and D_{ϵ}	25
	3.2 Extremal Points and Strict Convexity	30
	3.3 Selection Lemma	37
	3.4 Hölder Continuity of the Gradient	-46
4	ESTIMATES FOR THE PARABOLIC MONGE-AMPÈRE	3
	EQUATION	57
REFERENCES		64

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

This dissertation is concerned with determining properties of convex solutions to the Monge-Ampère equation. In its classical formulation, this is the fully nonlinear equation det $D^2 u = f$, where $D^2 u$ is the Hessian of the function $u : \Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$. When f is non-negative, it makes sense to consider convex solutions, since if u is C^2 and convex, then det $D^2 u \ge 0$. For every continuous function u we can construct a Borel measure, called the Monge-Ampère measure associated with u, see Theorem 2.1.2. This idea allows us (following Aleksandrov) to define a notion of weak solution for the Monge-Ampère equation. Given a Borel measure ν on $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, we say that the convex function $u \in C(\Omega)$ is a weak (or Aleksandrov) solution to det $D^2 u = \nu$ if the Monge-Ampère measure associated to u, denoted Mu, equals ν . Notice that these weak solutions are always convex, and so automatically possess certain properties. In this dissertation, we are primarily interested in establishing what further properties are satisfied by convex functions whose Monge-Ampère measures satisfy a specific condition.

This condition is actually a family of conditions. indexed by a parameter $\epsilon \in (0, 1]$. When $\epsilon = 1$, this condition becomes a doubling property. When this condition is satisfied by a measure μ , we write μ is D_{ϵ} or $\mu \in D_{\epsilon}$. If the measure $\mu \in D_{\epsilon_0}$, then $\mu \in D_{\epsilon}$ for all $\epsilon \leq \epsilon_0$. In particular, if $\mu \in D_1$, then μ is D_{ϵ} for all ϵ . The definition of D_{ϵ} is stated in terms of properties

satisfied by the cross-sections of the function u (see Definition 2.2.1), and the normalized distance to the boundary of a convex set. The cross-sections (or simply sections) of u are the level sets of u(x) - l(x) where l(x) is a supporting hyperplane to u. These sets are convex. The idea of studying these sets in order to analyze u is due to Caffarelli, and is described and further developed in [1], [2] and [3], among others. The notion of normalized distance to the boundary of a convex set was introduced by Jerison in [5] and appears below as Definition 2.3.1. In spite of the fact that it seems like we may be considering many conditions, it turns out that the actual value of ϵ for a given measure is largely irrelevant. None of the results we prove are dependent in a qualitative way on the value of ϵ .

Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a bounded convex domain. Suppose $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ is a weak solution of det $D^2 u = \mu$, where $0 < \lambda \leq \mu \leq \Lambda$, and is zero on $\partial\Omega$. Then u is strictly convex and is $C^{1,\alpha}$ for some α in the interior of Ω . For proofs of these statements see [1], [2] and [3]. We show that these results also hold with the weaker hypotheses of D_{ϵ} .

We conclude this Introduction with a summary of the main results and an outline of what follows. Chapter 2 contains background material and preliminary results needed for the statements and proofs of the main results that are in Chapter 3. The first section of Chapter 3 compares the doubling condition and D_{ϵ} . We prove that if u is defined on all of \mathbb{R}^n and satisfies the D_{ϵ} condition for some $0 < \epsilon < 1$, then the doubling condition is also satisfied, so in this case the conditions are equivalent. An example shows that this is not true if the domain of definition is bounded. The rest of the dissertation is concerned with properties of solutions satisfying the D_{ϵ} condition on bounded convex domains. The next section contains the proof of strict convexity for nontrivial solutions to the Dirichlet problem with zero boundary data. This is a consequence of a Caffarelli-type extremal points theorem (Theorem 3.2.1). The situation of non-constant boundary data is also analyzed in this section. Section 3.3 is devoted to a rather technical selection or compactness result (Lemma 3.3.1) for functions whose Monge-Ampère measures satisfy the D_{ϵ} condition. This

lemma is employed in the proof of a useful property about sections with base point lying at least a certain distance from the boundary of the domain. As a consequence of this property, we obtain a result first claimed by Jerison in [5]: if $u \in C(\bar{\Omega})$ is convex, zero on $\partial\Omega$ and $Mu \in D_{\epsilon}$, then u is $C^{1,\alpha}$ in the interior of Ω . Both of these results are discussed in Section 3.4. Finally, in Chapter 4, we show that analogs of Jerison's estimates (which are used repeatedly in proving the results mentioned above) are true for parabolically convex solutions of the parabolic Monge-Ampère equation $-u_t \det D_x^2 u = f$ on bowl-shaped domains.

CHAPTER 2

PRELIMINARY MATERIAL

2.1 Weak Solution

The weak solution considered for the Monge-Ampère equation det $D^2u(x) = f(x)$ is that of Aleksandrov, and requires the notions of the normal mapping of a function $u: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$, where $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, and the Monge-Ampère measure associated to u. We begin by explaining these topics. This material comes from Chapter 1 of [3].

Definition 2.1.1 The normal mapping (or sub-differential) of u is the setvalued function $\partial u : \Omega \to \mathbb{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, whose value at a point x_0 is the set

$$\partial u(x_0) = \{ p \in \mathbb{R}^n : u(x) \ge u(x_0) + p \cdot (x - x_0), \ x \in \Omega \}.$$

If $E \subset \Omega$, the normal map of E is $\partial u(E) = \bigcup_{x \in E} \partial u(x)$.

Given a function u, $\partial u(x_0)$ is the set of points p that determine supporting hyperplanes (affine functions l(x) such that $l(x_0) = u(x_0)$ and $l(x) \leq u(x)$ for all $x \in \Omega$) to u at x_0 . It is possible for $\partial u(x_0)$ to be empty. Indeed, if u is strictly concave on Ω then the normal mapping will be empty at every point of the domain. When the function u is convex, $\partial u(x)$ is nonempty at every point. If u is differentiable at x_0 and $\partial u(x_0) \neq \emptyset$ then $\partial u(x_0) = Du(x_0)$. Since convex functions are differentiable at almost every point, the normal mapping provides a substitute for the gradient for these functions. **Theorem 2.1.2** (Theorem 1.1.13 in [3]) If Ω is open and $u \in C(\Omega)$ then the family of sets

$$S = \{E \subset \Omega : \partial u(E) \text{ is Lebesgue measurable} \}$$

is a Borel σ -algebra. The map $Mu : S \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by $Mu(E) = |\partial u(E)|$ (where the notation |S| indicates the Lebesgue measure of the set S) is a measure, finite on compact subsets, called the Monge-Ampère measure associated with the function u.

We are now in a position to define the weak solution.

Definition 2.1.3 Let ν be a Borel measure defined in Ω , an open and convex subset of \mathbb{R}^n . The convex function $u \in C(\Omega)$ is an Aleksandrov or weak solution to the Monge-Ampère equation det $D^2u = \nu$ if the Monge-Ampère measure Mu associated with the function u equals ν .

This notion of weak solution is reasonable, since if $u \in C^2(\Omega)$ is convex and is a classical solution of det $D^2u(x) = f(x)$, then

$$Mu(E) = \int_E det \ D^2u(x) \ dx = \int_E f(x) \ dx$$

holds for any Borel set $E \subset \Omega$. This means that u is an Aleksandrov solution of det $D^2u = f(x) dx$.

We now state a lemma that will be useful in some of the convergence arguments below.

Lemma 2.1.4 (Lemma 1.2.3 in [3]) If u_k are convex functions in Ω such that $u_k \rightarrow u$ uniformly on compact subsets of Ω then the associated Monge-Ampère measures Mu_k converge to Mu weakly. In other words,

$$\int f(x) \, dMu_k \to \int f(x) \, dMu$$

for every $f \in C_0^0(\Omega)$.

Note that these solutions are always convex. The main objective of this thesis is to determine what further regularity properties are satisfied by solutions when the measure on the right-hand side satisfies a certain condition explained below.

Before introducing this condition, we state the fundamental existence and uniqueness result for Aleksandrov solutions of the Monge-Ampère equation.

Theorem 2.1.5 (Theorem 1.6.2 in [3]) If Ω is open bounded and strictly convex. μ is a finite Borel measure on Ω . and $g \in C(\partial\Omega)$, then there exists a unique $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ which satisfies $Mu = \mu$ in Ω and u = g on $\partial\Omega$.

Finally, to end this section, we mention a comparison principle that will be exploited in a barrier argument in the proof of strict convexity of solutions to the Dirichlet problem with nonzero boundary data.

Theorem 2.1.6 (Theorem 1.4.6 in [3]) Let $u, v \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ be convex functions such that for every Borel set $E \subset \Omega$.

$$|\partial u(E)| \le |\partial v(E)|.$$

Then

$$\min_{\overline{\Omega}} \{u - v\} = \min_{\partial \Omega} \{u - v\}.$$

2.2 Cross-Sections and Normalization

The approach to studying regularity of solutions to this equation involves analyzing the properties of the sections of the solution u.

Definition 2.2.1 The sections of u are the (convex) sets

$$S(x_0, p, t) = \{x \in \Omega : u(x) < u(x_0) + p \cdot (x - x_0) + t\},\$$

where $p \in \partial u(x_0)$ and t > 0.

These sets are formed by taking a supporting hyperplane to u at x_0 , sliding it up by a height of t, and looking at the values of $x \in \Omega$ for which the graph of u lies below this raised hyperplane. Roughly speaking, the main idea of this approach is that if the properties of these sections are known, this should provide valuable information about the function u itself. We make the assumption that the sections of u are bounded sets. This means that the graph of u does not contain any rays. Furthermore, when the function u is defined on a bounded set Ω , we only consider values of the parameter t for which either $\overline{S(x_0, p, t)} \subset \Omega$ or if $\overline{S(x_0, p, t_0)} \cap \partial\Omega \neq \emptyset$, then $\overline{S(x_0, p, t)} \subset \Omega$ for $t < t_0$.

We now introduce some notation and terminology. For any bounded convex set S, its center of mass will be denoted c(S), and this point is given by

$$c(S)_i = \frac{1}{|S|} \int_S x_i \, dx \text{ for } i = 1, \dots n.$$

Secondly, αS for $\alpha > 0$ refers to the dilation of S with respect to c(S) by a factor of α . In other words,

$$\alpha S = \{\alpha(x - c(S)) + c(S) : x \in S\}$$

Various conditions can be imposed on the measure appearing on the righthand side of the equation. One case is to consider those measures that are bounded between two positive constants, i.e. $\lambda |E| \leq \mu(E) \leq \Lambda |E|$. In this case, many regularity results are known: see [1], [2] and [3]. This thesis is concerned with two generalizations of this condition, which are stated in terms of properties satisfied by the sections of u. The first is a doubling condition: The measure μ is said to be doubling on the sections of u if $\mu(S) \leq C\mu(\frac{1}{2}S)$ for all sections S and some positive constant C. If $\lambda \leq \mu \leq \Lambda$, then μ is doubling, since

$$\mu(S) \le \Lambda |S| = 2^n \Lambda |\frac{1}{2}S| = 2^n \frac{\Lambda}{\lambda} \lambda |\frac{1}{2}S| \le 2^n \frac{\Lambda}{\lambda} \mu(\frac{1}{2}S).$$

The second generalization of the measure being bounded between two constants requires a little more background, and will be introduced in Section 2.3 below. **Definition 2.2.2** A convex set Ω is said to be normalized if $c(\Omega) = 0$ and $B_{\alpha_n}(0) \subset \Omega \subset B_1(0)$, where α_n is a dimensional constant.

The following result of Fritz John plays a critical role in many of the arguments below.

Theorem 2.2.3 Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be open bounded and convex. Then there exists an invertible affine transformation T such that $T(\Omega)$ is normalized.

The proof of this theorem uses the following result concerning ellipsoids of minimum volume.

Lemma 2.2.4 (Lemma 1.8.1 in [3]) Let $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be bounded and convex. Suppose also that S has nonempty interior. Then:

(a) Let $x_0 \in S$. Consider the class F_0 of ellipsoids centered at x_0 that contain S. Then there exists $E_0 \in F_0$ such that $|E_0| \leq |E|$ for all $E \in F_0$. We say that E_0 is an ellipsoid of minimum volume for S centered at x_0 .

(b) Consider the class F_1 of all ellipsoids that contain S. Then there exists $E_1 \in F_1$ such that $|E_1| \leq |E|$ for all $E \in F_1$. E_1 is called an ellipsoid of minimum volume for S.

We conclude this section with a useful formula for changing variables by an affine transformation (See p. 47 of [3]). Let T be an invertible affine transformation, Tx = Ax + b for some nonsingular matrix A and some $b \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Suppose $u : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ and $v(y) = \lambda^{-1}u(T^{-1}y)$ where $\lambda > 0$. The affine function $l(x) = u(x_0) + p \cdot (x - x_0)$ is a supporting hyperplane to u at x_0 if and only if $\overline{l}(y) = v(Tx_0) + \lambda^{-1}(A^{-1})^t p \cdot (y - Tx_0)$ is a supporting hyperplane to v at Tx_0 . This means that if $S = S_u(x_0, p, t)$ is a section of u, then T(S) is a section of v. More precisely, $T(S) = S_v(Tx_0, \lambda^{-1}(A^{-1})^t p, \frac{t}{\lambda})$. This also implies that

$$\frac{1}{\lambda}(A^{-1})^{t}(\partial u(E)) = \partial v(TE),$$

and hence that

$$Mv(TE) = \frac{1}{\lambda^n} |\det A^{-1}| Mu(E)$$
(2.1)

for any Borel set E. From this formula and the fact that for any section S. $T(\alpha S) = \alpha T(S)$, we get that if Mu is doubling (or D_{ϵ} introduced in the next section), then so is Mv, with the same constant.

2.3 Normalized Distance to the Boundary

Given a bounded open and convex set S, we can define, following Jerison (p.31 in [5]), a dimensionless, normalized distance from an interior point to the boundary of S.

Definition 2.3.1 The normalized distance from $x \in S$ to the boundary of the convex set S is

$$\delta(x, S) = \min \frac{|x - x_1|}{|x - x_2|}$$

where x_1 and x_2 are in ∂S and the three points x. x_1 and x_2 are collinear.

In other words, consider a line through the point x. This line intersects ∂S in exactly two points x_1 and x_2 . We can then form the fraction appearing in the definition. Then take the minimum over all lines passing through x, to determine $\delta(x, S)$.

Note that this quantity is always less than or equal to 1. Other properties of the normalized distance appear below.

We are now ready to define the second condition that will be imposed on the measure on the right-hand side of the equation. This condition was first considered in [5].

Definition 2.3.2 Let ϵ satisfy $0 < \epsilon \leq 1$. The measure μ is said to be D_{ϵ} or $\mu \in D_{\epsilon}$. if

$$\int_{S} \delta(x,S)^{1-\epsilon} d\mu \le C\mu\left(\frac{1}{2}S\right)$$

for all sections S.

Notice that the doubling condition is included in this family of conditions, and corresponds to $\epsilon = 1$. Since $\delta(x, S) \leq 1$ for any x and any S, if the measure μ is doubling, then it satisfies D_{ϵ} for any ϵ . More generally, if $\mu \in D_{\epsilon_0}$, then $\mu \in D_{\epsilon}$ for every $\epsilon < \epsilon_0$. When we need to specify the constant appearing in the definition of D_{ϵ} , we use the notation $\mu \in D_{\epsilon}(C)$ to denote that μ satisfies the D_{ϵ} condition with the constant C.

Two important properties of the normalized distance $\delta(\cdot, \cdot)$ are contained in the next result.

Lemma 2.3.3 (a) The normalized distance is invariant under affine transformations. If T is an affine transformation, then $\delta(x, S) = \delta(Tx, T(S))$.

(b) When the set S is normalized. $\delta(x, S) \approx dist(x, \partial S)$.

Remark These properties taken together provide a justification for calling $\delta(\cdot, \cdot)$ the "normalized distance to the boundary". Let S be any open, bounded, convex set in \mathbb{R}^n . By Theorem 2.2.3, there exists an affine transformation T that normalizes S. Using the two properties listed above, we see that $\delta(x, S) = \delta(Tx, T(S)) \approx dist(Tx, \partial T(S))$.

Proof To see why (a) holds, simply notice that for any affine transformation T.

$$\frac{|x_1 - x|}{|x_2 - x|} = \frac{|Tx_1 - Tx|}{|Tx_2 - Tx|}$$

and recall that T maps straight lines to straight lines.

The proof of (b) requires a little more work. Let S be a normalized convex set. In addition to the usual notion of $dist(x, \partial S)$ we also consider the radial distance from $x \neq 0$ to the boundary ∂S . This is given by |x - cx|, where c > 0and $cx \in \partial S$. We denote this radial distance by $dist_r(x, \partial S)$. We will show that $\delta(x, S) \geq C_1 dist(x, \partial S)$ and that $\delta(x, S) \leq C_2 dist_r(x, \partial S)$ for all $x \in S$. The claim will then follow since $dist(\cdot, \partial S) \approx dist_r(\cdot, \partial S)$. For any $x \in S$, we have that

$$\delta(x,S) = \min \frac{|x-x_1|}{|x-x_2|} \ge \frac{dist(x,\partial S)}{diam(S)} \ge \frac{1}{2}dist(x,\partial S).$$

Now given $x \in S$ $(x \neq 0)$, let $cx \in \partial S$ be the point for which $|x - cx| = dist_r(x, \partial S)$. Let \bar{x} denote the antipodal point to cx. In other words, $\bar{x} \in \partial S$ and the three points x, cx and \bar{x} are collinear. Then

$$\delta(x,S) \le \frac{|x-cx|}{|x-\bar{x}|}.$$

The segment from x to \bar{x} contains the segment from 0 to \bar{x} which is larger than α_n since $B_{\alpha_n}(0) \subset S$. Therefore, $\delta(x, S) \leq \frac{1}{\alpha_n} dist_r(x, S)$.

The claim will follow if the radial distance to the boundary and the usual distance to the boundary are comparable. Clearly, $dist_r(x, \partial S) \ge dist(x, \partial S)$. Let $dist(x, \partial S) = \epsilon$ and suppose $dist(x, \partial S) \ne dist_r(x, \partial S)$. Then $B_{\epsilon}(x) \subset S$. Construct a line l through cx and any point $y \in \partial S$, where $dist(x, \partial S)$ is attained. We now construct two similar triangles. The first one has vertices x. y and cx. The second has vertices at 0 and at cx, the angle at 0 is the same as the angle at x for the first triangle, and the third side of the second triangle lies outside of S, so $\alpha \ge \alpha_n$, where α is the length of the side of the second triangle that connects x to y. Then, by similarity.

$$\frac{|cx-x|}{|x-y|} = \frac{|cx-x|}{\epsilon} = \frac{|cx-0|}{\alpha} = \frac{|cx|}{\alpha} \le \frac{1}{\alpha_n} |cx| \le \frac{1}{\alpha_n}.$$

Therefore, $|cx - x| \leq \alpha_n^{-1} \epsilon = \alpha_n^{-1} dist(x, \partial S)$, and these two notions of distance to the boundary are comparable with constants depending only on dimension. This completes the proof. \Box

Lemma 2.3.4 Let S be a bounded convex domain. The normalized distance to the boundary $\delta(x, S)$ is continuous.

Proof Fix $x \in S$. In a neighborhood of each point of ∂S , the boundary is the graph of a Lipschitz function. Cover the compact set ∂S with finitely many of these neighborhoods. Let K be the largest of the Lipschitz constants associated with these neighborhoods, and let $\epsilon < \frac{dist(x,\partial S)}{2(K+1)}$. Let $\bar{x} \in B_{\epsilon}(x)$, and

let l be any line through x. Denote the points where l crosses ∂S by x_1 and x_2 . Now translate l in a parallel fashion until it passes through \bar{x} . Call this line \bar{l} , and denote the points where \bar{l} intersects ∂S by \bar{x}_1 and \bar{x}_2 . Then since the boundary of S is locally Lipschitz and $dist(l,\bar{l}) < \epsilon$. $|x_1 - \bar{x}_1|$ and $|x_2 - \bar{x}_2|$ are both smaller than $K\epsilon$.

Then we have the inequalities:

$$|\bar{x} - \bar{x}_1| \le |x - \bar{x}| + |x - x_1| + |\bar{x}_1 - x_1| \le |x - x_1| + (K + 1)\epsilon$$

and

$$|\bar{x} - \bar{x}_2| \ge |x - x_2| - |\bar{x}_2 - x_2| - |x - \bar{x}| \ge |x - x_2| - (K + 1)\epsilon.$$

Therefore, we see that

$$\frac{|\bar{x} - \bar{x}_1|}{|\bar{x} - \bar{x}_2|} \le \frac{|x - x_1| + (K+1)\epsilon}{|x - x_2| - (K+1)\epsilon}.$$

It follows that

$$\frac{|\bar{x} - \bar{x}_1|}{|\bar{x} - \bar{x}_2|} - \frac{|x - x_1|}{|x - x_2|} \le \frac{(K+1)\epsilon + |x - x_1|}{|x - x_2| - (K+1)\epsilon} - \frac{|x - x_1|}{|x - x_2|}$$
$$= \frac{(K+1)\epsilon(|x - x_2| + |x - x_1|)}{|x - x_2|^2 - (K+1)\epsilon|x - x_2|} \le \frac{2(K+1)\epsilon diam(S)}{dist(x,\partial S)(1 - (K+1)\epsilon)}$$

Hence, we observe that for any line l and any $\bar{x} \in B_{\epsilon}(x)$, the quantity

$$\frac{\left|\bar{x}-\bar{x}_{1}\right|}{\left|\bar{x}-\bar{x}_{2}\right|}-\frac{\left|x-x_{1}\right|}{\left|x-x_{2}\right|}$$

can be made arbitrarily small by choosing ϵ small enough. i.e. $\delta(x, S)$ is continuous. \Box

2.4 Three Important Estimates

Two pointwise estimates play a crucial role in what follows. Both describe a relationship between the size of u at an interior point of the domain and the "distance" the point lies from the boundary of the domain. A third estimate establishes a connection between a function's minimum and the integral of the normalized distance to the boundary of the domain over the whole domain with respect to the Monge-Ampère measure.

Theorem 2.4.1 Aleksandrov's Estimate (Theorem 1.4.2 in [3]) If $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is bounded, open and convex and $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ is convex and $u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0$, then

$$|u(x_0)|^n \le C(n)(diam\Omega)^{n-1}dist(x_0,\partial\Omega)Mu(\Omega)$$

for all $x_0 \in \Omega$.

When $Mu \in D_{\epsilon}$ for $0 < \epsilon < 1$, $Mu(\Omega)$ can be infinite. making this estimate not useful. but there is a substitute:

Theorem 2.4.2 Aleksandrov-Jerison (Lemma 7.3 in [5]) If Ω is convex and normalized, $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ is convex and $u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0$, and $0 < \epsilon \leq 1$.

$$|u(x_0)|^n \leq C(n,\epsilon)\delta(x_0,\Omega)^{\epsilon} \int_{\Omega} \delta(x,\Omega)^{1-\epsilon} dMu$$

for all $x_0 \in \Omega$.

Proof Without loss of generality. multiply u by a positive constant so that $u(x_0) = -1$. Choose positive constants s and β small enough so that $\beta n \leq \epsilon$ and $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} s_k \leq \frac{1}{2}$ where $s_k = s2^{-k\beta}$. Let A denote $\delta(x_0, \Omega)^{\epsilon} \int_{\Omega} \delta(x, \Omega)^{1-\epsilon} dMu(x)$. We need to show that $A \geq C = C(s)$, since s depends on ϵ .

Let $\Omega_k = \{x \in \Omega : u(x) \le \lambda_k \equiv -1 + s_1 + s_2 + \dots + s_k\}$ and $\delta_k = dist(\Omega_k, \partial \Omega)$ for $k = 0, 1, \dots$

We claim that $\delta_k \not\to 0$ as $k \to \infty$. If this is not true, then we could select a sequence $\{y_k\}$ with $y_k \in \Omega_k$, such that $dist(y_k, \partial\Omega) \to 0$. From this sequence we can choose a convergent subsequence, also denoted $\{y_k\}$. Then $0 = \lim_{k\to\infty} u(y_k) \leq -1 + \sum s_k \leq -\frac{1}{2}$, a clear contradiction.

Hence there exists a smallest k for which $\delta_{k+1} > \frac{1}{2}\delta_k$. Let $x_k \in \partial\Omega_k$ be a point closest to $\partial\Omega$, i.e. $dist(x_k, \partial\Omega) = \delta_k$.

Then we have that $dist(x_k, \partial \Omega_{k+1}) < \frac{1}{2}\delta_k$. To see this note that the segment L from x_k to $\partial \Omega$ with length δ_k intersects $\partial \Omega_{k+1}$ at some point, say x_{k+1} . Then $dist(x_{k+1}, \partial \Omega) \ge dist(\partial \Omega_{k+1}, \partial \Omega) = \delta_{k+1}$. Now

$$\delta_k = |x_k - x_{k+1}| + l \ge |x_k - x_{k+1}| + dist(x_{k+1}, \partial\Omega) > |x_k - x_{k+1}| + \frac{1}{2}\delta_k$$

where *l* is the length of the rest of the segment *L* (not the part from x_k to x_{k+1}). Therefore, $\frac{1}{2}\delta_k > |x_k - x_{k+1}| \ge dist(x_k, \partial\Omega_{k+1})$.

The next step is to apply Jerison's Lemma 7.2 (compare with Theorem 2.4.1) to the function $u(x) - \lambda_{k+1}$ on the set Ω_{k+1} . For completeness, we include the proof of this lemma at the end of the argument.

Lemma 2.4.3 (Lemma 7.2 in [5]) Let E be an open convex set and suppose $u \in C(\overline{E})$ is convex and is 0 on ∂E . Then there exists a dimensional constant C such that

$$|u(x)|^n \le C\delta(x, E)|E|Mu(E).$$

This gives

$$|u(x_k) - \lambda_{k+1}|^n \le C\delta(x_k, \Omega_{k+1})|\Omega_{k+1}|Mu(\Omega_{k+1})|$$

since $u(x_k) = \lambda_k$. $u(x_k) - \lambda_{k+1} = -s_{k+1}$. Then we see that

$$s_{k+1}^n \le C\delta(x_k, \Omega_{k+1}) |\Omega_{k+1}| M u(\Omega_{k+1}).$$

$$(2.2)$$

Note that Ω_{k+1} is convex. It is a section of u of height $|\min u| + \lambda_{k+1}$ with base point at the minimum of u with slope 0. Let L now be a shortest segment from x_k to $\partial \Omega_{k+1}$ and let z be the endpoint on $\partial \Omega_{k+1}$. Since Ω_{k+1} is convex, the hyperplane Π through z and normal to L is a support plane for Ω_{k+1} . Let $\rho = |L| = |x_k - z|$. Let Π' be the support plane parallel to Π on the opposite side of Ω_{k+1} (so that Ω_{k+1} is contained in the slab between Π and Π') and let $r = dist(\Pi, \Pi')$. Then since $\Omega_{k+1} \subset B_1(0)$, there exists a dimensional constant such that $|\Omega_{k+1}| \leq Cr$. Let T be an affine transformation normalizing Ω_{k+1} . Then $dist(T(\Pi), T(\Pi')) \approx 1$ and, by a similar triangle argument, $dist(T(x_k), T(\Pi)) \approx \frac{\rho}{r}$.

On the other hand, by Lemma 2.3.3,

$$\delta(x_k, \Omega_{k+1}) = \delta(T(x_k), T(\Omega_{k+1})) \le Cdist(T(x_k), T(\Omega_{k+1}))$$
$$\le Cdist(T(x_k), T(\Pi)) \le C\frac{\rho}{r}.$$

Inserting this into (2.2), we get

$$s_{k+1}^n \leq C\frac{\rho}{r} |\Omega_{k+1}| Mu(\Omega_{k+1}) \leq C\rho Mu(\Omega_{k+1}) < C\delta_{k+1} Mu(\Omega_{k+1}).$$

By the choice of k, $\delta_{k+1} \leq \delta_k \leq 2^{-k}\delta_0 \leq C2^{-k}\delta(x_0,\Omega)$, where $\delta_0 = dist(\Omega_0,\partial\Omega) \leq dist(x_0,\partial\Omega)$. Therefore,

$$\delta_{k+1}Mu(\Omega_{k+1}) = \delta_{k+1}^{\epsilon}\delta_{k+1}^{1-\epsilon}\int_{\Omega_{k+1}}dMu(x) = \delta_{k+1}^{\epsilon}\int_{\Omega_{k+1}}\delta_{k+1}^{1-\epsilon}dMu(x).$$
(2.3)

For every $x \in \Omega_{k+1}$, we have that $\delta(x, \Omega) \ge Cdist(x, \partial \Omega) \ge Cdist(\Omega_{k+1}, \partial \Omega) = C\delta_{k+1}$, so that

$$(2.3) \le \delta_{k+1}^{\epsilon} \int_{\Omega_{k+1}} C\delta(x,\Omega)^{1-\epsilon} dMu(x)$$

$$\leq C2^{-k\epsilon}\delta(x_0,\Omega)^{\epsilon}\int_{\Omega_{k+1}}\delta(x,\Omega)^{1-\epsilon}dMu(x)=C2^{-k\epsilon}A.$$

Hence $s_{k+1}^n = s^n 2^{-n(k+1)\beta} \leq C 2^{-k\epsilon} A$. Since $\beta n \leq \epsilon$, we get that $s^n 2^{-\epsilon(k+1)} \leq C 2^{-k\epsilon} A$. implying that $s^n \leq C A$, where C depends on ϵ . This completes the proof of the theorem. \Box

Proof of Lemma 2.4.3 Let T normalize E. and let $v(y) = u(T^{-1}y)$. By Theorem 2.4.1 applied to v in T(E) and using Lemma 2.3.3 and (2.1),

$$|u(x)|^{n} = |v(Tx)|^{n} \leq C_{n}(diamT(E))^{n-1}dist(Tx,\partial T(E))Mv(T(E))$$

$$\leq C_{n}dist(Tx,\partial T(E))Mv(T(E)) \leq C_{n}\delta(Tx,T(E))Mv(T(E))$$

$$= C_{n}\delta(x,E)Mv(T(E)) = C_{n}\delta(x,E)|\det T^{-1}|Mu(E)$$

$$\leq C_{n}\delta(x,E)|E|Mu(E),$$

where the last inequality holds because $|\det T^{-1}| = \frac{|E|}{|T(E)|} \leq C|E|$. \Box

15

There is an example (see [5], pp. 44-45) showing that if $\epsilon = 0$, there is no way to estimate the size of u at a point in terms of its distance to the boundary. This is the reason for requiring that the exponent appearing in the definition of D_{ϵ} is strictly less than 1.

To conclude this section, we prove a useful relationship between the minimum of a function u and the integral of the normalized distance over the domain that holds under certain conditions. This is the analog of Proposition 3.2.3 in [3].

Proposition 2.4.4 Let Ω be open convex and normalized, $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$, convex and $u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0$. Suppose $\int_{\Omega} \delta(x, \Omega)^{1-\epsilon} dMu \leq CMu(\frac{1}{2}\Omega)$. Then there exist two constants $C_1 = C_1(n, \epsilon)$ and $C_2 = C_2(n, \epsilon, C)$ such that

$$C_1 |\min_{\Omega} u|^n \leq \int_{\Omega} \delta(x, \Omega)^{1-\epsilon} dM u \leq C_2 |\min_{\Omega} u|^n.$$

Proof The first inequality follows directly from Theorem 2.4.2 and the fact that $\delta(x, \Omega) \leq 1$. In fact, for this inequality the hypothesis concerning the integral is not needed. For the second inequality,

$$\int_{\Omega} \delta(x,\Omega)^{1-\epsilon} dMu \le CMu(\frac{1}{2}\Omega) \le \bar{C}|\min_{\Omega} u|^n$$

where the second inequality is a consequence of the following lemma and the fact that since Ω is normalized, $dist(\frac{1}{2}\Omega, \partial\Omega) \geq C(n)$. \Box

Lemma 2.4.5 (Lemma 3.2.1 in [3]) Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a bounded convex and open, and ϕ a convex function in Ω such that $\phi \leq 0$ on $\partial\Omega$. If $x \in \Omega$ and $l(y) = \phi(x) + p \cdot (y - x)$ is a supporting hyperplane to ϕ at the point $(x, \phi(x))$ then

$$|p| \leq \frac{-\phi(x)}{dist(x,\partial\Omega)}.$$

More generally, if $\overline{\Omega}_0 \subset \Omega$. then

$$\partial \phi(\Omega_0) \subset B\left(0, \frac{\max_{\Omega_0}(-\phi)}{dist(\Omega_0, \partial\Omega)}\right).$$

Proof. The claim is clearly true if p = 0, so assume $p \neq 0$. We have $o(y) \geq o(x) + p \cdot (y - x)$ for every $y \in \Omega$. If $0 < r < dist(x, \partial\Omega)$ then $y_0 = x + r \frac{p}{|p|} \in \Omega$ and $0 \geq o(y_0) \geq o(x) + r|p|$. Hence $|p| \leq \frac{-o(x)}{r}$ for any $r \in (0, dist(x, \partial\Omega))$. This proves the first statement. For the second, notice that for any $x \in \Omega_0$, $-o(x) \leq \max_{\Omega_0}(-o)$ and $dist(x, \partial\Omega) \geq dist(\Omega_0, \partial\Omega)$. \Box

2.5 Hausdorff Metric

The Hausdorff metric introduces a topology on the set of nonempty compact subsets of \mathbb{R}^n . This metric is the proper framework to analyze the convergence of sections of solutions of the Monge-Ampère equation, and plays an important role in the proofs of the regularity results appearing below. The basic definitions and results come from the book [7]. Let K^n denote the set of nonempty compact subsets of \mathbb{R}^n .

Definition 2.5.1 For $K, L \in K^n$, the Hausdorff metric is defined by

$$d_{H}(K, L) = \max \{ \max_{x \in K} \min_{y \in L} |x - y|, \max_{x \in L} \min_{y \in K} |x - y| \}.$$

or equivalently by

$$d_H(K, L) = \min \{\lambda \ge 0 : K \subset L + \lambda B_1(0), L \subset K + \lambda B_1(0)\}.$$

We also define the Minkowski support function of a closed convex set K.

Definition 2.5.2 Let $K \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be closed, nonempty and convex. The Minkowski support function is the map $h(K, \cdot) : \mathbb{R}^n \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$ given by

$$h(K, u) = \sup_{x \in K} \{ \langle x, u \rangle \}.$$

We quote the following result establishing the connection between the Hausdorff metric and the support function.

Theorem 2.5.3 (Theorem 1.8.11 in [7]) For any convex bodies K and L.

$$d_{H}(K, L) = \sup_{u \in S^{n-1}} |h(K, u) - h(L, u)|.$$

We now collect some properties of the Hausdorff metric that will be used later. First we present the following theorem due to Blaschke.

Theorem 2.5.4 (Blaschke Selection Theorem) From each bounded sequence of convex bodies, one can select a subsequence converging (in the Hausdorff metric) to a convex body.

For our purposes, we will not need the full strength of this result, but will need only the following special case of this theorem. We include the proof for this case: the argument is contained in the proof of the Selection Lemma (Lemma 5.3.1) in [3].

Theorem 2.5.5 Let $\{K_n\}$ be a bounded sequence of convex bodies. Suppose additionally that there is point x and a number $\epsilon > 0$, such that $B_{\epsilon}(x) \subset K_n$ for all n. Then there is a subsequence K_n , converging to a convex body K.

Proof of Theorem 2.5.5 Without loss of generality. take x = 0. Let $F_j(x)$ be the function whose graph is the cone in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} with vertex (0, -1) and passing through the set $\partial K_j \times \{0\}$. Then $K_j = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : F_j(x) \leq 0\}$. Note that $F_j(x)$ is convex.

If $p \in \partial F_j(K_j) = \partial F_j(0)$, then $|p| \leq \frac{1}{\epsilon}$. Let R > 0 be such that $K_j \subset B_R(0)$ for all j. Then for any j. $-1 \leq F_j(x) \leq C$ in $B_{2R}(0)$, where $C = C(n, \epsilon)$. This holds because the slope of any ray in a cone emanating from the common vertex is uniformly bounded. Therefore, the functions $\{F_j(x)\}$ are uniformly bounded and equicontinuous in $B_{2R}(0)$. So by Arzelà-Ascoli, there exists a uniformly convergent subsequence, which we also denote F_j , converging to say F(x). Since F is the limit of convex functions, it is convex. Define the set Kto be $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : F(x) \leq 0\}$. K is convex because of the convexity of F.

We now show that $K_j \to K$ in the Hausdorff metric. We first demonstrate that given ϵ . $K_j \subset K + \epsilon B_1(0)$. for all j sufficiently large. If this is not true, there exists an $\epsilon > 0$ and a subsequence K_{j_k} such that $K_{j_k} \not\subset K + \epsilon B_1(0)$. In other words, there is a point $x_{j_k} \in K_{j_k}$ such that $x_{j_k} \not\in K + \epsilon B_1(0)$. This will mean that $B_{\frac{\epsilon}{2}}(x_{j_k}) \cap K = \emptyset$. Since $\{x_{j_k}\}$ is bounded we may assume that $x_{j_k} \to \bar{x}$. Then:

$$|F_{j_k}(x_{j_k}) - F(\bar{x})| \le |F_{j_k}(x_{j_k}) - F(x_{j_k})| + |F(x_{j_k}) - F(\bar{x})|.$$

Both of the terms on the right go to 0 (by uniform convergence and by the continuity of F respectively). Hence $F_{J_k}(x_{J_k}) \to F(\bar{x})$, but since $x_{J_k} \in K_{J_k}$. $F_{J_k}(x_{J_k}) \leq 0$, implying that $F(\bar{x}) \leq 0$, so $\bar{x} \in K$, but $B_{\frac{1}{2}}(x_{J_k}) \cap K = \emptyset$. This is a contradiction.

The next step is to show that $K \subset K_j + \epsilon B_1(0)$ for all $j \geq J(\epsilon)$. Let $x \in K$. Then $F(x) \leq 0$. We need to show that if $j \geq J(\epsilon)$, there exists $x_j \in K_j$ for which $|x_j - x| < \epsilon$. If not, there exists $\epsilon > 0$ and a subsequence for which $K_{j_k} \cap B_{\epsilon}(x) = \emptyset$. This implies that $F_{j_k}|_{B_{\frac{1}{2}}(x)} > 0$. In particular, $F_{j_k}(x) > 0$, but $F_{j_k}(x) \to F(x)$. The only way this is possible (since $x \in K$) is if F(x) = 0, i.e. $x \in \partial K$. Now choose a sequence $\{y_k\}$ converging to x, such that $y_k \in B_{\frac{\epsilon}{2}}(x) \cap int(K)$. Then $F(y_k) < 0$ so we must have $F_{j_k}(y_k) < 0$ for k sufficiently large, but $F_{j_k}|_{B_{\frac{\epsilon}{2}}(x)} > 0$. This is a contradiction, and therefore, for all $\epsilon > 0$, there is $J = J(\epsilon)$ such that $K \subset K_j + \epsilon B_1(0)$ for all $j \geq J$. \Box

The next lemma connects convergence in the Hausdorff metric with pointwise convergence of characteristic functions.

Lemma 2.5.6 Suppose $\{K_n\}$, a sequence of compact convex sets converge to K in the Hausdorff metric. Then $\chi_{K_n}(x) \rightarrow \chi_K(x)$ pointwise for every $x \notin \partial K$.

Proof of Lemma 2.5.6 By Theorem 2.5.4, K is compact and convex. First suppose $x \notin K$. Then $dist(x, K) = \rho > 0$. Hence $x \notin K + \frac{\rho}{2}B_1(0)$. By the convergence of K_n to K, this means that $x \notin K_n$ for all n sufficiently large. Therefore, $\chi_{K_n}(x) = 0 = \chi_K(x)$ for all $n \ge N$.

Now suppose $x \in int(K)$. Let $0 < \rho < dist(x, \partial K)$. Then $B_{\rho}(x) \subset K$. Change the coordinates by a translation so that in the new coordinates x = 0. From now on K_n and K represent the translations of the original sets in question. For any $v \in S^{n-1}$, K is contained between the parallel planes

$$\{z \in \mathbb{R}^n : \langle z, v \rangle = h(K, v)\}$$
 and $\{z \in \mathbb{R}^n : \langle z, v \rangle = h(K, -v)\}$.

Since $B_{\rho}(0) \subset K$, $h(K, v) \geq \rho$ for all $v \in S^{n-1}$. For $n \geq N(\rho)$, we have that $|h(u, K_n) - h(u, K)| \leq \frac{\rho}{2}$ for all $u \in S^{n-1}$. Therefore, $h(u, K_n) \geq \frac{\rho}{2}$ for any unit vector u, so that $B_{\frac{\rho}{2}}(0) \subset K_n$ for any n large enough. This shows that $0 \in K_n$ for such n, and translating back to the original coordinates, we get that $x \in K_n$ for all $n \geq N$ for some N, proving the claim. \Box

We now prove if a sequence of convex bodies $\{K_n\}$ converges to K, then the sequence $\{\frac{1}{2}K_n\}$ converges to $\frac{1}{2}K$.

Lemma 2.5.7 If $K_n \to K$ in the Hausdorff metric, then $\frac{1}{2}K_n \to \frac{1}{2}K$, where $\frac{1}{2}K_n$ is the dilation of K_n (respectively $\frac{1}{2}K$) with respect to its center of mass $c(K_n)$.

Proof We have the following formulas:

$$\frac{1}{2}K_n = \{\frac{1}{2}(c(K_n) + y) : y \in K_n\} \text{ and} \\ [c(K_n)]_i = \frac{1}{|K_n|} \int_{K_n} x_i \, dx.$$

By Theorem 1.8.16 in [7]. the volume map is continuous in the Hausdorff metric. In other words, if $S_n \to S$, then $|S_n| \to |S|$. We now show that the center of mass map is also continuous with respect to the Hausdorff metric on the class of convex bodies. To prove this we need to demonstrate that $\int_{K_n} x_i \, dx \to \int_K x_i \, dx$. Since $\{K_n\}$ converges, there exists an R > 0 such that $K, K_n \subset B_R(0)$ for all n. Then:

$$\left| \int_{K_n} x_i dx - \int_K x_i dx \right| \le \int_{K_n \cap K^c} |x_i| dx + \int_{K \cap K^c_n} |x_i| dx$$
$$\le R(|K_n \cap K^c| + |K \cap K^c_n|) \to 0$$

as $n \to \infty$, since $K_n \to K$, so by Lemma 2.5.6, $\chi_{K_n} \to \chi_K$ almost everywhere.

Now let $\epsilon > 0$. Then there exists N such that $n \ge N$ implies that $K \subset K_n + \epsilon B_1$, $K_n \subset K + \epsilon B_1$, and $|c(K_n) - c(K)| \le \epsilon$. We need to show that there exists N' such that if $n \ge N'$, the following two inclusions hold: $\frac{1}{2}K \subset \frac{1}{2}K_n + \epsilon B_1$ and $\frac{1}{2}K_n \subset \frac{1}{2}K + \epsilon B_1$.

Let $x \in \frac{1}{2}K$. Then $x = \frac{1}{2}(c(K) + y)$ for some $y \in K$. We want to show that for *n* sufficiently large, $x \in \frac{1}{2}K_n + \epsilon B_1$. In other words, we need to find a point $z_n \in \frac{1}{2}K_n$ such that $|x - z_n| \le \epsilon$.

For each $n \ge N$, there is a point $\overline{z}_n \in K_n$ such that $|\overline{z}_n - y| \le \epsilon$. Let $z_n = \frac{1}{2}(c(K_n) + \overline{z}_n) \in \frac{1}{2}K_n$. Then:

$$|x - z_n| = |\frac{1}{2}(c(K) + y) - \frac{1}{2}(c(K_n) + \bar{z}_n)| \le \frac{1}{2}(|c(K) - c(K_n)| + |y - \bar{z}_n|) \le \epsilon.$$

The other inclusion is proved by contradiction. If the claim is not true, then there exists $\epsilon > 0$ and a subsequence K_{n_j} such that $\frac{1}{2}K_{n_j} \not\subset \frac{1}{2}K + \epsilon B_1(0)$. This means that we can find a sequence of points $\{x_{n_j}\}$ such that $x_{n_j} \in \frac{1}{2}K_{n_j}$ and $dist(x_{n_j}, \frac{1}{2}K) > \epsilon$ for all points in the subsequence. Write $x_{n_j} = \frac{1}{2}(c(K_{n_j}) + \bar{x}_{n_j})$ where $\bar{x}_{n_j} \in K_{n_j}$. By passing to another subsequence, we can assume that $\bar{x}_{n_j} \to \bar{x}$. Then by letting $j \to \infty$, we see that x_{n_j} also approaches a limit, namely $\frac{1}{2}(c(K) + \bar{x})$. Theorem 1.8.7 (b) in [7] states that if $K_n \to K$ and $\{x_{n_j}\}$ converges to x, where $x_{n_j} \in K_{n_j}$, then $x \in K$. This theorem implies that $\bar{x} \in K$ and therefore $\{x_{n_j}\}$ converges to a point in $\frac{1}{2}K$. However, this is impossible if $dist(x_{n_j}, \frac{1}{2}K) > \epsilon$. \Box

The last two results in this section concern the convergence of the normalized distances to the boundaries of convex sets converging in the Hausdorff sense, and the continuity of sections in the parameter t respectively.

Lemma 2.5.8 Let $\{S_j\}$ be a sequence of convex bodies converging in the Hausdorff metric to the convex body S. Then for every $x \in S$, $\delta(x, S_j) \rightarrow \delta(x, S)$. In fact, the functions $f_j(x) = \delta(x, S_j)$ converge uniformly to $f(x) = \delta(x, S)$ on compact subsets of S.

Proof Let $x \in S$. Then $dist(x, \partial S) = \rho > 0$. Since $S_j \to S$, Lemma 2.5.6 implies that $x \in S_j$ for all j sufficiently large (depending on ρ). Then for

these j, $\delta(x, S_j)$ is defined. Let l be any line through x. Let x_1 and x_2 be the endpoints of the segment $l \cap \overline{S}$. Let x_1^j and x_2^j be the endpoints of the segment $l \cap \overline{S}_j$, with x_1^j being in the same ray (emanating from x) as x_1 . We make the claim that $x_1^j \to x_1$ and $x_2^j \to x_2$ "uniformly" in the sense that this convergence does not depend on l.

Then:

$$\frac{|x_1^j - x|}{|x_2^j - x|} \to \frac{|x_1 - x|}{|x_2 - x|}$$

and this implies that $\delta(x, S_j) \to \delta(x, S)$.

We prove the claim by considering two cases. First, consider the case that $|x_1^j - x| > |x_1 - x|$. Let u be the unit vector from x along l, pointing in the direction of x_1 . Let Π be a support plane to S at x_1 ; let v be its unit normal (away from S). Let Π_j be the plane parallel to Π that supports S_j at some point. Let $R_j = dist(\Pi, \Pi_j)$. Let θ be the angle between u and v. Then $|x_1^j - x_1| \leq R_j \sec \theta$. Construct a right triangle with one vertex at x. The angle at x is θ , and the sides intersecting at x are given by the rays emanating from x with directions u and v. The second vertex A is the point in ∂S where the ray starting at x in the direction v hits ∂S . The third vertex is the point B lying in the ray from x with direction u that lies in a plane parallel to Π through A. Then

$$\cos\theta = \frac{|x-A|}{|x-B|} \ge \frac{\rho}{diam(S)} > 0.$$

Hence, there is a number M for which $\sec \theta < M$. Therefore, $|x_1^j - x_1| \le MR_j$. By Theorem 2.5.3, $R_j \le d_H(S_j, S) \to 0$. This is because the number R_j is $h(v, S_j) - h(v, S)$, where $h(\cdot, \cdot)$ is the Minkowski support function. This shows that $x_1^j \to x_1$ at least for those j such that $|x_1^j - x| > |x_1 - x|$.

We now consider the other possibility, that $|x_1 - x| > |x_1^j - x|$. As before, let u be a unit vector from x along l pointing in the direction of x_1 . Let Π_j be a support plane to S_j at x_1^j and let v_j be its unit normal (pointing away from S_j). Let Π'_j be parallel to Π_j and support S at some point. Denote by R_j the distance between the parallel planes Π_j and Π'_j . Let θ_j be the angle between u and v_j . Then $|x_1^j - x_1| \leq R_j \sec \theta_j$. For each j we construct a right triangle with vertex x and sides intersecting at x given by the rays starting at x with directions u and v_j . The second vertex of the triangle, A_j lies at the end of the side with direction v_j and is in the boundary of S_j . The third vertex, B_j , is found by intersecting the side with direction u with the plane parallel to Π_j that passes through A_j . Then

$$\cos \theta_j = \frac{|x - A_j|}{|x - B_j|} \ge \frac{\rho/2}{diam(S)} > 0.$$

Then, as in the first case, $x_1^j \to x_1$ for those j for which $|x_1 - x| > |x_1^j - x|$.

For both of the cases considered, the same arguments show the corresponding result for x_2 . Combining the two cases, we get that $x_1^j \to x_1$ and $x_2^j \to x_2$. Notice that the convergence does not depend on the particular line l. This allows us to conclude that $\delta(x, S_j) \to \delta(x, S)$ pointwise for every $x \in int(S)$. The claim about uniform convergence on compact subsets follows since the only property of the point x needed in the above argument was its distance from the boundary of S. Therefore, if $K \in S$, $dist(x, \partial S) \ge \rho > 0$ for all $x \in K$ for some ρ . Then we can apply the above argument to deduce the uniform convergence. \Box

Lemma 2.5.9 Let u be a convex function defined on a domain Ω . Let $S = S(x_0, p, t)$ be a section of u. such that $S \in \Omega$. Let $\rho > 0$. Denote by S^{ρ} the section $S(x_0, p, t - \rho)$, and the section $S(x_0, p, t + \rho)$ by S_{ρ} . Then

$$\lim_{\rho \to 0} S^{\rho} = \lim_{\rho \to 0} S_{\rho} = S,$$

where the limits are in the Hausdorff metric.

Proof

Let $l(x) = u(x_0) + p \cdot (x - x_0) + t$ be the affine function defining S, i.e. $S = \{x \in \Omega : u(x) < l(x)\}$. First we show that $\lim_{\rho \to 0} S_{\rho} = S$. For every ρ , $S \subset S_{\rho}$, so we only need to prove that for every $\rho_0 > 0$,

$$S_{\rho} \subset S + \rho_0 B_1(0)$$

for all ρ sufficiently small. If this is not true, then there exists $\rho_0 > 0$ such that for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists $\epsilon_n < \frac{1}{n}$ and a point $x_n \in \partial S_{\epsilon_n} \cap (S + \rho_0 B_1(0))^c$. This implies that $dist(x_n, \partial S) > \rho_0$. But this leads to a contradiction. Choose a subsequence $x_{n_i} \to \bar{x}$. Then:

$$u(x_{n_j}) = u(x_0) + p \cdot (x_{n_j} - x_0) + t + \epsilon_{n_j}$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$u(\bar{x}) = u(x_0) + p \cdot (\bar{x} - x_0) + t.$$

This means that $\bar{x} \in \partial S$, but $dist(\bar{x}, \partial S) > \rho_0$. This is a contradiction.

Now we prove that $S^{\rho} \to S$, as $\rho \to 0$. Since $S^{\rho} \subset S$ for all ρ , we only need to show that for all $\rho_0 > 0$.

$$S \subset S^{\rho} + \rho_0 B_1(0)$$

for all ρ sufficiently small. Again, the proof of this inclusion is by contradiction. If this does not hold, there exists a $\rho_0 > 0$ such that for all n, there exists $\epsilon_n < \frac{1}{n}$ such that $S \not\subset S^{\epsilon_n} + \rho_0 B_1(0)$. In other words, there is a point $x_n \in S$ such that $x_n \notin S^{\epsilon_n} + \rho_0 B_1(0)$, meaning that $dist(x_n, \partial S^{\epsilon_n}) > \rho_0$. Then we can choose a subsequence $x_{n_j} \to \bar{x} \in \bar{S}$. Each $x_{n_j} \notin S^{\epsilon_{n_j}}$, so

$$l(x_{n_j}) - \epsilon_{n_j} \leq u_0(x_{n_j}) < l(x_{n_j}).$$

Let $j \to \infty$ to conclude that $l(\bar{x}) \leq u_0(\bar{x}) \leq l(\bar{x})$. This means that $\bar{x} \in \partial S$. We have the inequality:

$$dist(\bar{x}, \partial S^{\epsilon_{n_j}}) \leq |\bar{x} - x_{n_j}| + dist(x_{n_j}, \partial S^{\epsilon_{n_j}})$$
 and

This implies that $|dist(\bar{x}, \partial S^{\epsilon_{n_j}}) - dist(x_{n_j}, \partial S^{\epsilon_{n_j}})| \leq |\bar{x} - x_{n_j}|$. We also have that $|\bar{x} - x_{n_j}| \to 0$ and $dist(x_{n_j}, \partial S^{\epsilon_{n_j}}) \geq \rho_0$. This implies that $dist(\bar{x}, \partial S^{\epsilon_{n_j}}) \geq \frac{\rho_0}{2}$ for all j large enough. Therefore, $B_{\frac{\rho_0}{2}}(\bar{x}) \cap S^{\epsilon_{n_j}} = \emptyset$ for large j. However, since $\bar{x} \in \partial S$, there is a point $z \in B_{\frac{\rho_0}{2}}(\bar{x})$ such that $z \in S$. This means that $u_0(z) < l(z)$, so $u_0(z) < l(z) - \epsilon_{n_j}$ for j large enough, implying that $z \in S^{\epsilon_{n_j}}$. This is a contradiction. \Box

CHAPTER 3

REGULARITY PROPERTIES

3.1 Comparison of D_1 and D_{ϵ}

The following theorem shows that the two conditions. D_{ϵ} and doubling, are equivalent for convex functions defined on the whole of \mathbb{R}^n . The converse of this theorem is a trivial consequence of the fact that $\delta(\cdot, \cdot) \leq 1$.

Theorem 3.1.1 If $u : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is convex and $Mu \in D_{\epsilon}$ for some $\epsilon \in (0,1)$, then Mu is doubling.

The proof of this result uses the characterization of doubling Monge-Ampère measures on \mathbb{R}^n due to Gutiérrez and Huang:

Theorem 3.1.2 (Theorem 3.3.5 in [3]) $Mu = \mu$ is doubling on \mathbb{R}^n if and only if there exist constants $0 < \tau$, $\lambda < 1$, such that for all x_0 and t > 0, $S(x_0, p, \tau t) \subset \lambda S(x_0, p, t)$.

Proof of Theorem 3.1.1: Let $S = S_u(x_0, p, t)$ be any section of u. Let T be an affine transformation that normalizes S, Tx = Ax + b for an invertible matrix A, and denote T(S) by S^{\bullet} . Define $v(x) = u(T^{-1}x)$. Then $T(S_u(x_0, p, \lambda t)) = S_v(Tx_0, q, \lambda t)$ for any $\lambda > 0$, where $q = (A^{-1})^t p$. We also have $T(\lambda S) = \lambda T(S) = \lambda S^{\bullet}$.

Let $v^*(x) = v(x) - v(Tx_0) - q \cdot (x - Tx_0) - t$. Then $\partial v^* = \partial v - q$, and by the translation invariance of Lebesgue measure $Mv^* = Mv$. Also, $v^*|_{\partial S^*} = 0$. Let $y \in S^* \setminus \lambda S^*$, where $\lambda < 1$ is to be chosen, close to 1.

Since S^* is normalized, $dist(y, \partial S^*) \leq (1 - \lambda)$ implies that $\delta(y, S^*) \leq C_n(1 - \lambda)$. Then by Theorem 2.4.2 and Proposition 2.4.4:

$$|v^{*}(y)|^{n} \leq C\delta(y, S^{*})^{\epsilon} \int_{S^{*}} \delta(x, S^{*})^{1-\epsilon} dMv^{*}$$

$$\leq C(1-\lambda)^{\epsilon} |\min_{S^{*}} v^{*}|^{n}$$

$$= C(1-\lambda)^{\epsilon} t^{n}.$$

Therefore $v^*(y) \ge -C(1-\lambda)^{\frac{\epsilon}{n}}t$. meaning that

$$v(y) - v(Tx_0) - q \cdot (y - Tx_0) \ge (1 - C(1 - \lambda)^{\frac{\epsilon}{n}})t.$$

Choose λ so that the term on the right hand side is positive. Then choose $0 < \tau < 1 - C(1 - \lambda)^{\frac{r}{n}}$. Therefore,

$$v(y) \ge v(Tx_0) + q \cdot (y - Tx_0) + \tau t.$$

so $y \notin S_v(Tx_0, q, \tau t)$. This implies that $S_v(Tx_0, q, \tau t) \subset \lambda S^*$. By applying T^{-1} , we get the inclusion $S_u(x_0, p, \tau t) \subset \lambda S_u(x_0, p, t)$. So by Theorem 3.1.2. Mu is doubling. \Box

For functions defined only on bounded domains in \mathbb{R}^n , the two conditions are not equivalent. A simple example of a function whose Monge-Ampère measure is $D_{\frac{1}{2}}$ but not doubling on sections is presented next.

Example Define the function $u: [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$u(x) = \begin{cases} x \log x & 0 < x \le 1, \\ 0 & x = 0. \end{cases}$$

This function is continuous on [0, 1], convex and satisfies $Mu = \frac{1}{x} dx$.

Since u is zero on the boundary (i.e. u(0) = u(1) = 0), the interval (0, 1) is a section. By considering this section, we see that the measure cannot be

doubling, because

$$Mu((0,1)) = \int_0^1 \frac{dx}{x} = \infty. \text{ but}$$
$$Mu(\frac{1}{2}(0,1)) = \int_{\frac{1}{4}}^{\frac{3}{4}} \frac{dx}{x} = \ln 3 < \infty.$$

This means that there is no constant C for which $Mu((0,1)) \leq CMu(\frac{1}{2}(0,1))$. Therefore, the measure is not doubling on sections.

 $D_{\frac{1}{2}}$ means that for any section $(a, b) \subset (0, 1)$.

$$\int_{a}^{b} \delta(x, [a, b])^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{dx}{x} \leq CMu(\frac{1}{2}(a, b)) = C \int_{\frac{3a+b}{4}}^{\frac{3b+a}{4}} \frac{dx}{x} = C \ln\left(\frac{3b+a}{3a+b}\right).$$

Here

$$\delta(x, [a, b]) = \begin{cases} \frac{x-a}{b-x} & a < x \le \frac{a+b}{2}, \\ \\ \frac{b-x}{x-a} & \frac{a+b}{2} < x < b. \end{cases}$$

To show that $Mu \in D_{\frac{1}{2}}$, four cases will be considered:

1.
$$a, b > C_1 > 0$$
.
2. $0 < a < C_1$. $b > C_2 a$, where $C_2 > \frac{3}{2}$.
3. $0 < a < C_1$. $b \le C_2 a$.
4. $a = 0$.

Case 1. When $a, b > C_1$, $1 \le \frac{1}{r} < \frac{1}{C_1}$. On sets of this form Mu is comparable to Lebesgue measure, so Mu is doubling and hence satisfies $D_{\frac{1}{2}}$.

Case 2. We write

$$\int_{a}^{b} \delta(x, [a, b])^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{dx}{x} = \int_{a}^{\frac{a+b}{2}} \frac{\sqrt{x-a}}{x\sqrt{b-x}} dx + \int_{\frac{a+b}{2}}^{b} \frac{\sqrt{b-x}}{x\sqrt{x-a}} dx = I + II.$$

We consider integral I first:

$$I \le \int_a^{\frac{a+b}{2}} \frac{dx}{\sqrt{x}\sqrt{b-x}} \le \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{b-a}} \int_a^{\frac{a+b}{2}} \frac{dx}{\sqrt{x}} = \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{b-a}} \left(\sqrt{\frac{a+b}{2}} - \sqrt{a}\right)$$

$$\leq \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{b-a}} \left(\sqrt{\frac{a+b}{2}} \right) = 2\sqrt{\frac{a+b}{b-a}} \leq 2\sqrt{\frac{2b}{b(1-C_2^{-1})}} = 2\sqrt{\frac{2}{1-C_2^{-1}}}$$

We now turn to *II*:

$$II \le \sqrt{\frac{2}{b-a}} \int_{\frac{a+b}{2}}^{b} \frac{\sqrt{b-x}}{x} dx \le \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{(a+b)\sqrt{b-a}} \int_{\frac{a+b}{2}}^{b} \sqrt{b-x} dx$$
$$\le \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{(a+b)\sqrt{b-a}} \sqrt{\frac{b-a}{2}} \left(\frac{b-a}{2}\right) = \frac{b-a}{a+b} \le 1.$$

Therefore, $I + II \le 2\sqrt{\frac{2}{(1-C_2^{-1})}} + 1$. The right hand side for the D_1 co

The right-hand side for the $D_{\frac{1}{2}}$ condition is

$$\ln\left(\frac{3b+a}{3a+b}\right) \ge \ln\left(\frac{3b}{b(\frac{3}{C_2}+1)}\right) = \ln\left(\frac{3}{\frac{3}{C_2}+1}\right)$$

Choose C such that $1 + 2\sqrt{\frac{2}{(1-C_2^{-1})}} \leq C \ln \left(\frac{3}{\frac{3}{C_2}+1}\right)$. For the term on the right to be positive (so that the choice of C is possible). C_2 must be $> \frac{3}{2}$.

Case 3. Let b = a + h, where $h \leq (C_2 - 1)a$. We want to show that the following inequality holds:

$$\int_{a}^{a+\frac{h}{2}} \frac{\sqrt{x-a}}{x\sqrt{b-x}} dx + \int_{a+\frac{h}{2}}^{b} \frac{\sqrt{b-x}}{x\sqrt{x-a}} dx = I + II$$
$$\leq C \ln\left(\frac{3b+a}{3a+b}\right) = C \ln\left(\frac{4a+3h}{4a+h}\right). \tag{3.1}$$

Since $II \leq I$ (see below), it is enough to prove the estimate for I. We have that:

$$I \leq \int_{a}^{a+\frac{h}{2}} \frac{1}{x} dx = \ln\left(\frac{a+\frac{h}{2}}{a}\right) = \ln\left(1+\frac{h}{2a}\right) \leq \frac{h}{2a}.$$

For the right-hand side of (3.1).

$$\ln\left(\frac{4a+3h}{4a+h}\right) = \ln\left(1+\frac{2h}{4a+h}\right) \ge \tilde{C}\left(\frac{2h}{4a+h}\right), \quad (3.2)$$

where $\tilde{C} < 1$ is chosen so that $\ln(1+x) \geq \tilde{C}x$, for all $x \in [0, \frac{C_2-1}{2}]$. Then the last inequality in (3.2) holds since $\frac{2h}{4a+h} \leq \frac{2(C_2-1)a}{4a} = \frac{C_2-1}{2}$. The claim will hold if \bar{C} can be chosen such that:

$$\frac{h}{2a} \le \bar{C} \frac{2h}{4a+h} \text{ or equivalently } \bar{C}^{-1} \le \frac{4a}{4a+h}.$$

Now

$$\frac{4a}{4a+h} \ge \frac{4a}{(3+C_2)a} = \frac{4}{3+C_2}$$

Hence, take $\bar{C} = \frac{4}{3+C_2}$. Then

$$I \le \frac{h}{2a} \le \bar{C} \frac{2h}{4a+h} \le \frac{\bar{C}}{\bar{C}} \ln\left(\frac{4a+3h}{4a+h}\right) = CMu\left(\frac{1}{2}(a,b)\right)$$

Case 4. When a = 0, the right-hand side is $\ln 3$. Therefore we just need to dominate the left-hand side by a constant. The left-hand side is

$$\int_{0}^{\frac{b}{2}} \frac{\sqrt{x}}{x\sqrt{b-x}} \, dx + \int_{\frac{b}{2}}^{b} \frac{\sqrt{b-x}}{x\sqrt{x}} \, dx = I + II.$$

Note: Again $II \leq I$, so it is enough to estimate I. This is done as follows:

$$I \le \sqrt{\frac{2}{b}} \int_0^{\frac{b}{2}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{x}} \, dx = 2.$$

Therefore, the desired inequality also holds in Case 4.

We now prove that $II \leq I$. For any interval, $(a, b) \subset (0, 1)$,

$$\int_{a}^{b} \delta(x, [a, b])^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{dx}{x} = \int_{a}^{\frac{a+b}{2}} \delta(x, [a, b])^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{dx}{x} + \int_{\frac{a+b}{2}}^{b} \delta(x, [a, b])^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{dx}{x} = I + II.$$

Then

$$I \ge \frac{2}{a+b} \int_{a}^{\frac{a+b}{2}} \delta(x, [a, b])^{\frac{1}{2}} dx = I', \text{ and}$$
$$II \le \frac{2}{a+b} \int_{\frac{a+b}{2}}^{b} \delta(x, [a, b])^{\frac{1}{2}} dx = II'.$$

Now notice that I' = II' since in this setting δ has the symmetry property: $\delta(x, [a, b]) = \delta(\bar{x}, [a, b])$, where if $x = a + \epsilon$, then $\bar{x} = b - \epsilon$, for $0 < \epsilon < \frac{b-a}{2}$.

Since the four cases considered above exhaust all possibilities for sections, this completes the proof that $Mu \in D_{\frac{1}{2}}$, but is not doubling. \Box

3.2 Extremal Points and Strict Convexity

This section contains the analog for D_{ϵ} of Caffarelli's theorem concerning extremal points in the case $\lambda \leq Mu \leq \Lambda$. The proof in the case of D_{ϵ} follows the same outline as in the book of Gutiérrez (Theorem 5.2.1 in [3]). Before stating and proving this theorem, we introduce some terminology and basic facts of convex geometry. For a more detailed description of these topics see [7].

Definition The point $x_0 \in \partial \Gamma$ is an extremal point of $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ if it is not a convex combination of other points in $\overline{\Gamma}$.

Remark Let *E* be the set of extremal points of Γ , a bounded convex subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Then the convex hull of *E* equals $\overline{\Gamma}$.

Lemma Let $\Gamma \neq \emptyset$ be a closed, convex and bounded subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Then the set *E* of extremal points of Γ is not empty.

Theorem 3.2.1 Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be open, bounded and convex. and let $u \in C(\Omega)$ be convex. Suppose $Mu \in D_{\epsilon}$. Assume $u \ge 0$ and let $\Gamma = \{x \in \Omega : u(x) = 0\}$. If $\Gamma \ne \emptyset$ and contains more than one point, then Γ has no extremal points in Ω .

Proof: The proof is by contradiction. Suppose $x_0 \in \Omega$ is an extremal point of Γ . Since $u \geq 0$, Γ is convex. We apply the following result.

Lemma 3.2.2 (Lemma 5.1.4 in [3])Let x_0 be an extremal point of Ω . Then given $\delta > 0$ there exist a supporting hyperplane l(x) at some point of $\partial\Omega$ (not necessarily x_0), and $\epsilon_0 > 0$ such that

- (a) $\Omega \subset \{x : l(x) \ge 0\}.$
- (b) $diam\{x \in \overline{\Omega} : 0 \le l(x) \le \epsilon_0\} < \delta$. and
- $(c) \ 0 \leq l(x_0) < \epsilon_0.$

This result is applied to the the set Γ with $\delta = \rho < \frac{1}{2}dist(x_0, \partial\Omega)$. Let x_1 be the point at which l(x) is a supporting hyperplane.

Define

$$S = \{x \in \Gamma : 0 \le l(x) \le \epsilon_0\}.$$
$$\Pi_1 = \{x : l(x) = \epsilon_0\}.$$
$$\Pi_2 = \{x : l(x) = 0\}.$$

For $\epsilon_1 > 0$. define the convex set

$$\Gamma_{\epsilon_1} = \{ x \in \Omega : u(x) \le \epsilon_1(\epsilon_0 - l(x)) \}.$$

Notice that $S \subset \Gamma_{\epsilon_1}$ for all $\epsilon_1 > 0$. Therefore $S \subset \bigcap_{\epsilon_1 > 0} \Gamma_{\epsilon_1}$. We claim that we also have that $\bigcap_{\epsilon_1 > 0} \Gamma_{\epsilon_1} \subset S$. If $x \in \Gamma_{\epsilon_1}$, the non-negativity of u implies that $l(x) \leq \epsilon_0$, and if $x \in \Gamma_{\epsilon_1}$ for all $\epsilon_1 > 0$, then we must have that u(x) = 0, and hence $x \in \Gamma$ and $l(x) \geq 0$. Since $diam(S) < \rho < \frac{1}{2}dist(x_0, \partial\Omega)$ and $x_0 \in S$, $S \subset int(\Omega)$. Because the Γ_{ϵ_1} decrease as $\epsilon_1 \to 0$, and $S = \bigcap_{\epsilon_1 > 0} \Gamma_{\epsilon_1}$. $\Gamma_{\epsilon_1} \subset int(\Omega)$ for all ϵ_1 sufficiently small.

We point out that Γ_{ϵ_1} is the closure of a section of u in Ω . The set Γ_{ϵ_1} is the set of points in Ω for which the graph of u lies below the graph of the hyperplane $\bar{l}(x) = \epsilon_1(\epsilon_0 - l(x))$. Let η_0 be the largest value of η for which $\{x \in \Omega : u(x) \leq \bar{l}(x) - \eta\}$ is not empty. By continuity there is a point $\xi \in \Omega$ where $u(\xi) = \bar{l}(\xi) - \eta_0$. Then Γ_{ϵ_1} is a section of u with height η_0 with base point ξ . What this amounts to geometrically is lowering the plane \bar{l} until the graph of u lies above it.

Now slide Π_2 in a parallel fashion away from Π_1 until it touches $\partial \Gamma_{\epsilon_1}$ at a point x_{ϵ_1} and let Π_3 denote the resulting plane. i.e.,

 $\Pi_3 = \{ x : l(x) = -\rho_{\epsilon_1} \}, \qquad x_{\epsilon_1} \in \Pi_3, \qquad \Gamma_{\epsilon_1} \subset \{ x : -\rho_{\epsilon_1} \le l(x) \le \epsilon_0 \},$

with $\rho_{\epsilon_1} > 0$.

Let $u_{\epsilon_1}(x) = u(x) - \epsilon_1(\epsilon_0 - l(x))$. This function is convex. and $\inf_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}} u_{\epsilon_1} < 0$. This second assertion can be seen from considering the point x_0 . We have that $0 \le l(x_0) < \epsilon_0$, and that $u(x_0) = 0 \le \epsilon_1(\epsilon_0 - l(x_0))$ for all ϵ_1 so $x_0 \in \Gamma_{\epsilon_1}$ for every ϵ_1 . Then $u_{\epsilon_1}(x_0) = 0 - \epsilon_1(\epsilon_0 - l(x_0)) < 0$. The set Γ_{ϵ_1} is a section of u_{ϵ_1} in the set Ω . Note also that $u_{\epsilon_1}|_{\partial\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}} = 0$. We have that:

$$dist(\Pi_2, \Pi_3) = \rho_{\epsilon_1}, \qquad dist(\Pi_1, \Pi_2) = \epsilon_0, \qquad \text{so } \frac{dist(\Pi_2, \Pi_3)}{dist(\Pi_1, \Pi_2)} = \frac{\rho_{\epsilon_1}}{\epsilon_0}$$

Since the Γ_{ϵ_1} shrink to S as $\epsilon_1 \to 0$, $\rho_{\epsilon_1} \to 0$ as $\epsilon_1 \to 0$.

Now consider the quantity

$$\frac{|u_{\epsilon_1}(x_1)|}{|\inf_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}} u_{\epsilon_1}|}.$$

We have that

$$u_{\epsilon_1}(x_1) = u(x_1) - \epsilon_1(\epsilon_0 - l(x_1)) = 0 - \epsilon_1(\epsilon_0 - 0) = -\epsilon_1\epsilon_0 < 0$$
, and

$$u_{\epsilon_1}(x) = u(x) - \epsilon_1(\epsilon_0 - l(x)) \ge \inf_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}} u - \epsilon_1(\epsilon_0 - l(x))$$

for all $x \in \Gamma_{\epsilon_1}$. Then since $\inf_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}} u = 0$, we get that

$$u_{\epsilon_1}(x) \geq -\epsilon_1(\epsilon_0 - l(x)).$$

This implies that

$$\inf_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}} u_{\epsilon_1}(x) \geq \inf_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}} [-\epsilon_1(\epsilon_0 - l(x))] = -\sup_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}} \epsilon_1(\epsilon_0 - l(x)) = -\epsilon_1(\epsilon_0 + \rho_{\epsilon_1}).$$

Therefore.

$$\frac{|u_{\epsilon_1}(x_1)|}{|\inf_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}} u_{\epsilon_1}|} \geq \frac{\epsilon_1 \epsilon_0}{\epsilon_1(\epsilon_0 + \rho_{\epsilon_1})} = \frac{\epsilon_0}{\epsilon_0 + \rho_{\epsilon_1}} \to 1$$

as $\epsilon_1 \to 0$ since $\rho_{\epsilon_1} \to 0$.

We conclude that $\liminf_{\epsilon_1 \to 0} \frac{|u_{\epsilon_1}(x_1)|}{\lim_{\epsilon_1 \to 0} |u_{\epsilon_1}|} = 1.$

Let T_{ϵ_1} normalize Γ_{ϵ_1} and $u_{\epsilon_1}^{\star}(x) = u_{\epsilon_1}(T_{\epsilon_1}^{-1}x)$. Then $Mu_{\epsilon_1}^{\star} \in D_{\epsilon}$ and $u_{\epsilon_1}^{\star}$ is zero on $\partial \Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^{\star}$ where $\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^{\star} = T_{\epsilon_1}(\Gamma_{\epsilon_1})$.

Then. as above.

$$\frac{|u_{\epsilon_1}^*(T_{\epsilon_1}x_1)|}{|\inf_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^*}u_{\epsilon_1}^*|} \ge C_1 > 0$$

for ϵ_1 sufficiently small. This implies (by Proposition 2.4.4) that

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

$$|u_{\epsilon_1}^{\star}(T_{\epsilon_1}x_1)|^n \ge C_1^n |\inf_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^{\star}} u_{\epsilon_1}^{\star}|^n \ge C \int_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^{\star}} \delta(x, \Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^{\star})^{1-\epsilon} dM u_{\epsilon_1}^{\star}.$$
(3.3)

We now explain why Proposition 2.4.4 holds in this case. Using (2.1) we obtain that:

$$Mu_{\epsilon_1}^{\bullet}(\frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^{\bullet}) = Mu_{\epsilon_1}^{\bullet}(\frac{1}{2}T(\Gamma_{\epsilon_1})) = Mu_{\epsilon_1}^{\bullet}(T(\frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}))$$
$$= |\det T^{-1}|Mu_{\epsilon_1}(\frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}) = |\det T^{-1}|Mu(\frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}).$$

The following is also true (again by (2.1) and Lemma 2.3.3):

$$\int_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^{\bullet}} \delta(x, \Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^{\bullet})^{1-\epsilon} dM u_{\epsilon_1}^{\bullet} = \int_{T(\Gamma_{\epsilon_1})} \delta(x, T(\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}))^{1-\epsilon} dM u_{\epsilon_1}^{\bullet}$$
$$= \int_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}} \delta(Ty, T(\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}))^{1-\epsilon} |\det T^{-1}| dM u_{\epsilon_1} = \int_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}} \delta(y, \Gamma_{\epsilon_1})^{1-\epsilon} |\det T^{-1}| dM u_{\epsilon_1}$$
$$= \int_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}} \delta(y, \Gamma_{\epsilon_1})^{1-\epsilon} |\det T^{-1}| dM u.$$

Since Γ_{ϵ_1} is a section of u and $Mu \in D_{\epsilon}$.

$$\int_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}} \delta(y, \Gamma_{\epsilon_1})^{1-\epsilon} dMu \leq CMu(\frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}).$$

Therefore, by canceling the factor $|\det T^{-1}|$ we see that we have the inequality

$$\int_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^*} \delta(x, \Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^*)^{1-\epsilon} \, dMu_{\epsilon_1}^* \leq CMu_{\epsilon_1}^*(\frac{1}{2}\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^*)$$

which is what we need to apply Proposition 2.4.4. so (3.3) holds.

The next step is to show that $dist(T_{\epsilon_1}x_1, \partial\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^*) \to 0$ as $\epsilon_1 \to 0$. Let Π_i^* denote $T_{\epsilon_1}\Pi_i$ for i = 1, 2 and 3. We first prove that as $\epsilon_1 \to 0$.

$$\frac{dist(\Pi_2^*,\Pi_3^*)}{dist(\Pi_1^*,\Pi_2^*)} \to 0.$$

We have that $dist(\Pi_1^*, \Pi_2^*) \leq dist(\Pi_1^* \cap \Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^*, \Pi_2^* \cap \Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^*) \leq 2$ since $\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^*$ is normalized. Then

$$\frac{dist(\Pi_2^*,\Pi_3^*)}{dist(\Pi_1^*,\Pi_2^*)} = \frac{dist(\Pi_2,\Pi_3)}{dist(\Pi_1,\Pi_2)} = \frac{\rho_{\epsilon_1}}{\epsilon_0} \to 0$$

as $\epsilon_1 \to 0$, and hence $dist(\Pi_2^*, \Pi_3^*) \to 0$.

Now let $\partial \Gamma_2^{\bullet} \subset \partial \Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^{\bullet}$ be that portion of the boundary lying between the planes Π_2^{\bullet} and Π_3^{\bullet} . Let $P_{\epsilon_1} \in \partial \Gamma_2^{\bullet}$ be the point such that the line through $|T_{\epsilon_1}x_1 - P_{\epsilon_1}| \leq dist(\Pi_2^{\bullet}, \Pi_3^{\bullet}) \to 0.$ On the other hand, by Theorem 2.4.2, $|T_{\epsilon_1}x_1 - P_{\epsilon_1}| \leq dist(\Pi_2^{\bullet}, \Pi_3^{\bullet}) \to 0.$

On the other hand, by Theorem 2.4.2,

$$|u_{\epsilon_1}^*(T_{\epsilon_1}x_1)|^n \leq C\delta(T_{\epsilon_1}x_1,\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^*)^{\epsilon} \int_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^*} \delta(x,\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^*)^{1-\epsilon} dM u_{\epsilon_1}^*.$$

From (3.3) above.

$$|u_{\epsilon_1}^*(T_{\epsilon_1}x_1)|^n \ge C \int_{\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^*} \delta(x, \Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^*)^{1-\epsilon} dM u_{\epsilon_1}^*.$$

This implies that $\delta(T_{\epsilon_1}x_1, \Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^*)^{\epsilon} \geq C$, but $dist(T_{\epsilon_1}x_1, \partial\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^*) \to 0$. However, since $\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^*$ is normalized, $\delta(T_{\epsilon_1}x_1, \Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^*) \approx dist(T_{\epsilon_1}x_1, \partial\Gamma_{\epsilon_1}^*)$. This is a contradiction. \Box

Corollary 3.2.3 Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be open, bounded and convex. Suppose $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ is convex and zero on $\partial\Omega$. Then if $Mu \in D_{\epsilon}$, either u is strictly convex or identically zero.

Proof Suppose u is not strictly convex. Then the graph of u contains a line segment, say L. If $(x_0, u(x_0)) \in int(L)$, then any supporting hyperplane l(x) to u at x_0 must contain L.

Apply Theorem 3.2.1 to the function u(x) - l(x). This function is nonnegative on Ω , and the set $\Gamma = \{x \in \Omega : u(x) = l(x)\}$ contains more than one point. Therefore, Γ has no extremal points inside Ω , so all of its extremal points are in $\partial \Omega$.

Write $x_0 = \sum_{i=1}^m \lambda_i x_i$, where the $x_i \in \partial \Omega$ are extremal points of Γ , $\lambda_i > 0$, and $\sum \lambda_i = 1$. Then $u(x_0) = l(x_0) = \sum \lambda_i l(x_i) = \sum \lambda_i u(x_i) = 0$. since $u(x_i) = 0$. Then because x_0 is an interior point of Ω and $u(x_0) = 0$. $u \equiv 0$ by convexity. \Box

Theorem 3.2.4 (Compare with Theorem 5.4.7 in [3]) Let Ω be bounded, open and convex. and let $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ be convex. Suppose $Mu \in D_{\epsilon}$ for some ϵ , and $Mu > \lambda > 0$. Then if u = f on $\partial\Omega$, where $f \in C^{1,\beta}(\partial\Omega)$ for $\beta > 1 - \frac{2}{n}$ $(n \geq 3)$, then u is strictly convex. **Proof** Suppose u is not strictly convex. Then the graph of u contains a line segment, say from $(x_0, u(x_0))$ to $(x_1, u(x_1))$ for some x_0 and x_1 in Ω . Let l(x) be a supporting hyperplane to u that contains this segment. Let $E = \{x \in \Omega : u(x) - l(x) = 0\}$. The segment from x_0 to x_1 is contained in E. Therefore, by Theorem 3.2.1, all of the extremal points of E (denote this set by E^*) are in $\partial\Omega$. Since E^* generates E, there exist two points z_0 and z_1 in E^* such that $\overline{z_0z_1} \cap E \neq \emptyset$. By a translation and rotation, we can assume that the segment from z_0 to z_1 lies on the x_1 coordinate axis, and its midpoint is the origin. Let u^* represent the values of u - l after this change of coordinates, and let f^* denote the new boundary values. We then have that $z_0 = t_0e_1$ and $z_1 = -t_0e_1$ for some $t_0 > 0$. Then $u^* \ge 0$ for all $x \in \Omega$ and is 0 along the x_1 axis. $Mu^* \in D_s$, and $Mu^* > \lambda$.

Write x = (t, x') for $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and $x' = (x_2, \ldots, x_n)$. Now construct a thin cylindrical tube \mathcal{I}_{ρ} with axis x' = 0, and radius 2ρ , for ρ small. We will introduce a barrier function B = B(t, x') such that $B > u^*$ on ∂T_{ρ} , $MB = \lambda < Mu^*$, and B(0,0) = 0. Therefore by Theorem 2.1.6, $B > u^*$ in T_{ρ} , so that $u^*(0) < 0$, but this is a contradiction, and hence u is strictly convex. Define

$$B(t, x') = K(a^{n-1}t^2 + \frac{1}{a}|x'|^2)$$

for constants K and a to be determined.

Let $(t, x') \in T_{\rho}$. We first claim that $0 \leq u^{\bullet}(t, x') \leq C_1 |x'|^{1+\beta}$. We can write $(t, x') = \theta z'_0 + (1 - \theta) z'_1$ for some z'_0 and z'_1 in $T_{\rho} \cap \partial \Omega$, and we can choose z'_0 and z'_1 such that they lie on the same straight line parallel to x' = 0. Then by convexity.

$$0 \le u^*(t, x') \le \theta u^*(z_0') + (1 - \theta) u^*(z_1') = \theta f^*(z_0') + (1 - \theta) f^*(z_1').$$
(3.4)

We have that $f^*(z_i) = u^*(z_i) = 0$ for i = 0, 1. Since $u^* \ge 0$ on $\overline{\Omega}$, this implies that f^* has a minimum at z_i , so that $Df^*(z_i) = 0$. By the assumed regularity of f^* .

$$f^{*}(z_{0}') - f^{*}(z_{0}) = Df^{*}(z_{0}) \cdot (z_{0}' - z_{0}) + o(|z_{0}' - z_{0}|^{1+\beta}) = o(|z_{0}' - z_{0}|^{1+\beta}).$$

Since $\partial\Omega$ is Lipschitz, $|z'_0 - z_0| \leq C|x'|$ (We can parameterize $\partial\Omega$ near z_0 by a Lipschitz function of x', say p. Then $|z'_0 - z_0| = |p(x') - p(0)| \leq C|x'|$). Similarly, $f^*(z'_1) \leq C|x'|^{1+3}$. Inserting these estimates into (3.4), we obtain the claim.

The next step is to compare the values of u^* and B on ∂T_{ρ} . We first consider the lateral side (i.e. $\partial T_{\rho} \cap \Omega$). Here we have that $|x'| = \rho$. Therefore, $B(t, x') \geq K \frac{\rho^2}{a}$. From the last claim, $u^*(t, x') \leq C_1 \rho^{1+\beta}$. In order to guarantee that $B > u^*$, we need that

$$K \frac{\rho^2}{a} > C_1 \rho^{1+\beta}.$$
 (3.5)

We now deal with the rest of the boundary, $T_{\rho} \cap \partial \Omega$. Since $\partial \Omega$ is Lipschitz, $|t| \approx t_0$, so that there is a constant C_2 such that $|t| \geq C_2 t_0$. Then $B(t, x') \geq Ka^{n-1}t^2 \geq KC_2^2 a^{n-1}t_0^2$, and again we employ the estimate $u(t, x') \leq C_1 \rho^{1+\beta}$. Therefore we require that

$$KC_2^2 a^{n-1} t_0^2 > C_1 \rho^{1+\beta}. aga{3.6}$$

We now compute MB. $MB = (2K)^n$, so if K is chosen smaller that $(\frac{\lambda}{2})^{\frac{1}{n}}$, we get $MB < Mu^*$.

To determine an appropriate value for a, we let $a = \frac{\rho^{1-\beta}}{\gamma}$ where γ is a large constant to be chosen shortly. From (3.5) we get that $\gamma K \rho^{1+\beta} > C_1 \rho^{1+\beta}$: so we take $\gamma K > C_1$.

From (3.6), we see that

$$\frac{KC_2^2 t_0^2 \rho^{(1-\beta)(n-1)}}{\gamma^{n-1}} > C_1 \rho^{1+\beta}.$$

or equivalently.

$$\frac{KC_2^2 t_0^2}{C_1 \gamma^{n-1}} > \rho^{1+\beta+(\beta-1)(n-1)}.$$

The left hand side of the last inequality is now a fixed quantity, so in order to make such an estimate possible (for small values of ρ) we need the exponent to be positive. This will happen precisely when $\beta > 1 - \frac{2}{n}$. \Box

We remark that Theorem 3.2.4 is sharp. There are examples (due to Pogorelov, see pp. 81-84 in [6]) of functions whose Monge-Ampère measures

are bounded between two positive constants (and hence doubling and D_{ϵ}) and are $C^{1,1-\frac{2}{n}}$ on the boundary, but are not strictly convex.

3.3 Selection Lemma

The following compactness result is crucial for proving further regularity results and has independent interest. Compare with Lemma 5.3.1 in [3].

Lemma 3.3.1 (Selection Lemma) Let $\{\Omega_j\}_{1}^{\infty}$ be a sequence of normalized convex domains, and let $u_j \in C(\overline{\Omega}_j)$ be convex, $u_j|_{\partial\Omega_j} = 0$, with $Mu_j \in D_{\epsilon}(C)$ for all j. Assume also that Mu_j is absolutely continuous with respect to Lebesgue measure for each j. Then if $\lambda \leq |\inf_{\Omega_j} u_j| \leq \Lambda$ for all j. there exist:

(a) a normalized convex domain Ω_0 ,

(b) $u_0 \in C(\overline{\Omega}_0)$, convex, with $Mu_0 \in D_{\epsilon}(C)$, Mu_0 absolutely continuous with respect to Lebesgue measure, $u|_{\partial\Omega_0} = 0$ and $\lambda \leq |\inf u_0| \leq \Lambda$; and a subsequence of the u_j that converges uniformly on compact subsets to u_0 .

If, in addition, for each j, there exists $x_j \in \Omega_j$ with $dist(x_j, \partial\Omega_j) \ge \epsilon'$, and $l_j(x)$ a support plane to u_j at x_j such that $S_j = \{x \in \Omega_j : u_j(x) < l_j(x) + \frac{1}{j}\} \not\subset \{x \in \Omega_j : u_j(x) < -\bar{C}\epsilon'\}$, then there exist: (c) a point $x_0 \in \Omega_0$ such that $dist(x_0, \partial\Omega_0) \ge \epsilon'$, and (d) a support plane l_0 to u_0 at x_0 such that $S_0 = \{x \in \Omega_0 : u_0(x) = l_0(x)\} \not\subset \{x \in \Omega_0 : u_0(x) < -\bar{C}\epsilon'\} = T_0$.

Remark A The boundedness condition on the minima of the u_j is necessary (and restricting just the D_{ϵ} constant is not enough) to guarantee the existence of a uniformly convergent subsequence as the following example demonstrates. For each $N \in \mathbb{N}$ we can uniquely solve the problem (provided Ω is strictly convex)

$$\begin{cases} \det D^2 u = N dx \\ u|_{\partial \Omega} = 0. \end{cases}$$

Then for any section S_N of u_N , $Mu_N(S_N) = N|S_N|$ and $Mu_N(\frac{1}{2}S_N) = N|\frac{1}{2}S_N| = \frac{1}{2^n}N|S_N|$. Therefore, Mu_N is doubling on the sections of u_N for all N with the same doubling constant. If Ω is normalized. Proposition 2.4.4 tells us that $|\min_{\Omega} u_N|^n \approx N$. From this, one sees that the sequence $\{min_{\Omega}u_N\}$ is unbounded, and therefore, $\{u_N\}$ cannot have a uniformly convergent subsequence.

Remark B If a measure $\mu \in D_{\epsilon}$, it is possible for μ to have singular part with respect to Lebesgue measure. There is an example of a measure that is doubling on intervals in \mathbb{R} , which is totally singular with respect to dx. See [8] (p.40) for details.

Proof of Lemma 3.3.1 The domain Ω_0 can be produced by the special case of the Blaschke Selection Theorem. Theorem 2.5.5. $\{\bar{\Omega}_j\}$ is a sequence of compact. convex sets. Denote also by $\{\bar{\Omega}_j\}$ the subsequence guaranteed by this result, and let $\bar{\Omega}_0$ be the limiting set. Take $\Omega_0 = int(\bar{\Omega}_0)$. Then given $\rho > 0$, for all j sufficiently large, we have that:

$$\Omega_j \subset \Omega_0 + \rho B_1(0)$$
 and $\Omega_0 \subset \Omega_j + \rho B_1(0)$.

Since each Ω_j is normalized, these inclusions imply that Ω_0 is as well. This demonstrates (a).

The proof of the rest of the theorem will be done in stages.

Step 1 The first step in proving (b) is to show that for every compact $K \subseteq \Omega_0$, there are positive constants $j_0(K)$ and c(K) such that

$$K \subset \{x \in \Omega_j : dist(x, \partial \Omega_j) > c(K)\}$$

$$(3.7)$$

for all $j \ge j_0(K)$.

Let $dist(K, \partial\Omega_0) = \rho > 0$, and let $x \in K$. Translate the coordinates so that x is now 0. Let $\tilde{\Omega}_j = \Omega_j - x$, and $\tilde{\Omega}_0 = \Omega_0 - x$. Since $\Omega_j \to \Omega_0$, there exists J such that if $j \ge J$, then $d_H(\Omega_j, \Omega_0) < \frac{\rho}{2}$. Since d_H is invariant under translations, $d_H(\Omega_j, \Omega_0) = d_H(\tilde{\Omega}_j, \tilde{\Omega}_0)$. By Theorem 2.5.3, for any $u \in S^{n-1}$, $d_H(\tilde{\Omega}_j, \tilde{\Omega}_0) \ge |h(\tilde{\Omega}_j, u) - h(\tilde{\Omega}_0, u)|$. We have that $h(\tilde{\Omega}_0, u) \ge \rho$ for all unit vectors u, since $B_\rho(0) \subset \tilde{\Omega}_0$. Therefore,

$$\frac{\rho}{2} \ge |h(\tilde{\Omega}_j, u) - h(\tilde{\Omega}_0, u)| \ge \rho - |h(\tilde{\Omega}_j, u)|$$

This implies that $h(\tilde{\Omega}_j, u) \geq \frac{\rho}{2}$. Therefore, $B_{\frac{\rho}{2}}(0) \subset \tilde{\Omega}_j$: translating back we obtain that $B_{\frac{\rho}{2}}(x) \subset \Omega_j$ for all $j \geq J$. Since $x \in K$ was arbitrary, we have that $dist(K, \partial \Omega_j) \geq \frac{\rho}{2}$ for j sufficiently large.

Step 2 Now we show that for every compact $K \subseteq \Omega_0$, there is a constant C(K) such that for every $x \in K$ and every $p \in \partial u_j(x)$.

$$|u_j(x)| + |p| \le C(K).$$
(3.8)

By assumption, we have that the $\{u_j\}$ are uniformly bounded. Also by virtue of the last step, $\rho > 0$ can be chosen so that

$$K_{\rho} - \{x : dist(x, K) \leq \rho\} \Subset \Omega_j$$

for $j \ge j_0(K)$. Let $0 \ne p \in \partial u_j(K)$ for any $j \ge j_0(K)$, say $p \in \partial u_j(\bar{x})$, where $\bar{x} \in K$. Then

$$u_j(x) \ge u_j(\bar{x}) + p \cdot (x - \bar{x})$$

for all $x \in \Omega_j$. In particular, this is true for $x = \bar{x} + \rho \omega$, where $|\omega| = 1$. Then

$$u_j(\bar{x} + \rho\omega) \ge u_j(\bar{x}) + \rho|p|$$
 implying $\max_{K_\rho} u_j \ge \min_K u_j + \rho|p|.$

and therefore.

$$|p| \le \frac{\max_{K_{\rho}} u_j - \min_K u_j}{\rho} < \infty$$

since by hypothesis the u_j are uniformly bounded.

Step 3 We now produce the function u_0 . To begin, we demonstrate that given $K \Subset \Omega_0$, the $\{u_j\}$ are uniformly Lipschitz on K. for j large enough, i.e. we show that $|u_j(x) - u_j(z)| \le C(K)|x - z|$ for all $x, z \in K$ and for all $j \ge j_0(K)$. The proof of this claim is as in the proof of Lemma 1.1.6 in [3]. Let $x \in K$ and $p \in \partial u_j(x)$. Then by Step 2. $|p| \le C(K)$. For any $z \in K$.

$$u_j(z) \ge u_j(x) + p \cdot (z-x)$$
 or $u_j(z) - u_j(x) \ge -|p| |z-x| \ge -C(K)|z-x|$.

Therefore, $|u_j(x) - u_j(z)| \le C(K)|x - z|$ for all $j \ge j_0(K)$. In particular the $\{u_j\}$ are equicontinuous on K.

Therefore, by Arzelà-Ascoli, there exists a uniformly convergent subsequence in K. Write $\Omega_0 = K_1 \cup K_2 \cup K_3 \cup \cdots$, with $K_1 \Subset K_2 \Subset \cdots$. By a diagonal process, we can extract a subsequence of the u_j that converges uniformly on compact subsets of Ω_0 . Define $u_0(x)$ to be the limit of this subsequence.

Because u_0 is the limit of convex functions, it is convex. If $x \in \Omega_0$, then $x \in \Omega_j$ for j large. Then since $u_j|_{\partial\Omega_j} = 0$. $u_j(x) \leq 0$. By letting $j \to \infty$, we get that $u_0(x) \leq 0$. Also, since $\lambda \leq |\min u_j| \leq \Lambda$ for every j, we have that $\lambda \leq |\min u_0| \leq \Lambda$.

Step 4 The next step is to show that $u_0 \in C(\overline{\Omega}_0)$ and $u_0|_{\partial\Omega_0} = 0$. To this end, we first show that for every $\eta > 0$, there is a number $j_0(\eta)$ such that

$$\{x \in \Omega_j : dist(x, \partial\Omega_j) \ge \eta\} \subset \{x \in \Omega_0 : dist(x, \partial\Omega_0) \ge \frac{\eta}{2}\},$$
(3.9)

for all $j \ge j_0(\eta)$. This can be shown by an argument similar to that in Step 1. For $j \ge J_1$, we have that $d_H(\Omega_j, \Omega) < \frac{\eta}{2}$. Let $j \ge J_1$ and let $x \in \Omega_j$ satisfy $dist(x, \partial\Omega_j) \ge \eta$. Define $\tilde{\Omega}_j = \Omega_j - x$, and $\tilde{\Omega}_0 = \Omega_0 - x$. This change of coordinates takes x to the origin, and, as before, we have that $d_H(\tilde{\Omega}_j, \tilde{\Omega}_0) = d_H(\Omega_j, \Omega_0)$. Then for any $u \in S^{n-1}$ (by Theorem 2.5.3):

$$\frac{\eta}{2} > d_H(\tilde{\Omega}_j, \tilde{\Omega}_0) \ge |h(\tilde{\Omega}_j, u) - h(\tilde{\Omega}_0, u)|.$$

Since $B_{\eta}(0) \subset \tilde{\Omega}_{j}$, $h(\tilde{\Omega}_{j}, u) \geq \eta$. Hence, $h(\tilde{\Omega}_{0}, u) \geq \frac{\eta}{2}$, so $B_{\frac{\eta}{2}}(0) \subset \tilde{\Omega}_{0}$. This last inclusion is equivalent to $B_{\frac{\eta}{2}}(x) \subset \Omega_{0}$ and (3.9) holds.

We now show that

$$\{x\in\Omega_0:u_0(x)<-\rho\}\Subset\Omega_0$$

for each $\rho > 0$. By Theorem 2.4.2 and Proposition 2.4.4,

$$|u_j(x)|^n \leq C\delta(x,\Omega_j)^{\epsilon} \int_{\Omega_j} \delta(y,\Omega_j)^{1-\epsilon} dM u_j \leq C\Lambda\delta(x,\Omega_j)^{\epsilon} \leq \tilde{C}dist(x,\Omega_j)^{\epsilon}.$$

41

This implies that $|u_j(x)|^{\frac{n}{\epsilon}} \leq \tilde{C}dist(x,\Omega_j)$, so if $u_j(x) < \frac{-\rho}{2}$, then $\left(\frac{\rho}{2}\right)^{\frac{n}{\epsilon}} \leq Cdist(x,\partial\Omega_j)$. In other words the following inclusion holds:

$$\{x \in \Omega_j : u_j(x) < \frac{-\rho}{2}\} \subset \{x \in \Omega_j : dist(x, \partial\Omega_j) \ge C\rho^{\frac{n}{\epsilon}}\}.$$

Then by (3.9), for j large enough (depending on ρ)

$$\{x \in \Omega_j : dist(x, \partial \Omega_j) \ge C\rho^{\frac{n}{\epsilon}}\} \subset \{x \in \Omega_0 : dist(x, \partial \Omega_0) \ge \frac{C}{2}\rho^{\frac{n}{\epsilon}}\} \equiv K(\rho).$$

Therefore.

$$\bigcup_{j\geq j_0(\rho)} \{x\in\Omega_j: u_j(x)<\frac{-\rho}{2}\}\subset K(\rho).$$

This implies that $\{x \in \Omega_0 : u_0(x) < -\rho\} \subset K(\rho)$. This is because if $x \in \Omega_0$, then $x \in \Omega_j$ for all j large enough (by Lemma 2.5.6), and if $u(x) < -\rho$, then $u_j(x) < -\frac{\rho}{2}$ for all large j. This proves that

$$\lim_{x\to\partial\Omega_0}u_0(x)=0.$$

Step 5 Now we will produce the point x_0 and the supporting hyperplane with the desired properties. By hypothesis.

$$S_j = \{x \in \Omega_j : u_j(x) < l_j(x) + \frac{1}{j}\} \not\subseteq \{x \in \Omega_j : u_j(x) < -C\epsilon'\} = T_j.$$

Then there is a point $y_j \in S_j \cap T_j^c$. Then $u_j(y_j) < l_j(y_j) + \frac{1}{j}$ and we can assume $u_j(y_j) = -C\epsilon'$. By (3.9). $x_j \in \Omega_0$ and

$$dist(x_j, \partial \Omega_0) \ge \frac{\epsilon'}{2}$$
 for all $j > j_0(\epsilon')$. (3.10)

By Theorem 2.4.2 and Proposition 2.4.4,

$$C\epsilon'^n = |u_j(y_j)|^n \le C_n \delta(y_j, \Omega_j)^{\epsilon} \int_{\Omega_j} \delta(y, \Omega_j)^{1-\epsilon} dM u_j \le C(n, \Lambda) \delta(y_j, \Omega_j)^{\epsilon}.$$

This implies that $dist(y_j, \partial \Omega_j) \ge C\epsilon'^{\frac{n}{\epsilon}}$, so by (3.9), $dist(y_j, \Omega_0) \ge C(n, \epsilon', \Lambda)$ for j large enough.

Therefore, for all j sufficiently large, $\{x_j\}$ and $\{y_j\}$ are contained in a compact subset of Ω_0 . By passing to subsequences, $x_j \to x_0 \in \Omega_0$ and $y_j \to y_0 \in$ Ω_0 . Furthermore, $dist(x_0, \partial\Omega_0)$, $dist(y_0, \partial\Omega_0) \ge C(\epsilon')$. This shows statement (c) of the theorem. Let $p_j \in \mathbb{R}^n$ define $l_j(x)$, i.e. $l_j(x) = u_j(x_j) + p_j \cdot (x - x_j)$. Then since the x_j are away from $\partial\Omega_0$, the p_j are bounded (Step 2). Choose a subsequence so that $p_j \to p_0$. Now $u_j(x) \ge u_j(x_j) + p_j \cdot (x - x_j) = l_j(x)$ for all $x \in \Omega_j$. Let $j \to \infty$ to get $u_0(x) \ge u_0(x_0) + p_0 \cdot (x - x_0)$ for all $x \in \Omega_0$. This means that $l_0(x) = u_0(x_0) + p_0 \cdot (x - x_0)$ is a support plane to u_0 at x_0 . Now $u_j(y_j) = -C\epsilon'$ for all j implying that $u_0(y_0) = -C\epsilon'$. Also, $u_j(y_j) \le l_j(y_j) + \frac{1}{j}$. Let $j \to \infty$ and get $u_0(y_0) \le l_0(y_0)$ so that $u_0(y_0) = l_0(y_0)$. Therefore, $y_0 \in S_0 \cap T_0^c$. This proves (d).

Step 6 It remains to show that $Mu_0 \in D_{\epsilon}(C)$. To prove this, it must be demonstrated that for any section S of u_0 .

$$\int_{S} \delta(x,S)^{1-\epsilon} dM u_0 \le CM u_0 \left(\frac{1}{2}S\right)$$

To prove this inequality, two cases will be considered: the case where $\bar{S} \subseteq \Omega_0$, and the case where $\bar{S} \cap \partial \Omega_0 \neq \emptyset$.

Case 1 $\overline{S} \in \Omega_0$. The idea is to approximate S by $\{S_j\}$, a sequence of sections of u_j , with the property that $S_j \to S$ in the Hausdorff metric. Once the possibility of this approximation is demonstrated, we will show that this implies that

$$Mu_{j}\left(\frac{1}{2}S_{j}\right) \to Mu_{0}\left(\frac{1}{2}S\right)$$
 and (3.11)

$$\int_{S_j} \delta(x, S_j)^{1-\epsilon} dM u_j \to \int_S \delta(x, S)^{1-\epsilon} dM u_0.$$
(3.12)

This will establish the claim, since we have for all j $(Mu_j \in D_{\epsilon}(C))$

$$\int_{S_j} \delta(x, S_j)^{1-\epsilon} dM u_j \le CM u_j \left(\frac{1}{2}S_j\right)$$

Let S be such a section for u_0 . $S = S(x_0, p, t) \in \Omega_0$. Let $l(x) = u_0(x_0) + p \cdot (x - x_0) + t$. Since l(x) < 0 for all $x \in \Omega_0$ and $\Omega_j \to \Omega_0$. l(x) < 0 for all $x \in \Omega_j$, for $j \ge J_0$.

Then l(x) determines a section S_j of u_j in Ω_j at some point (slide l(x) down until it touches the graph of u_j at one point, this will be the desired

By the uniform convergence, for any $\rho > 0$, there exists J_1 such that for all $j \ge J_1$.

$$u_0(x) - \rho \leq u_j(x) \leq u_0(x) + \rho.$$

for every $x \in U$, where $\overline{S} \subset \overline{U} \Subset \Omega_0$. Take ρ small enough that $S_{\rho} \equiv S(x_0, p, t + \rho) \Subset U$, and $t - \rho > 0$. Define $S^{\rho} \equiv S(x_0, p, t - \rho)$. Then we have

$$S^{\rho} \subset S_j \subset S_{\rho}$$
 for $j \ge \max(J_0, J_1)$.

Now by Lemma 2.5.9 in Section 2.5, we have that

$$\lim_{\rho \to 0} S^{\rho} = \lim_{\rho \to 0} S_{\rho} = S,$$

implying that $\lim_{j\to\infty} S_j = S$, and we are able to approximate the section S as claimed.

The next step is to prove (3.11). Since $S_j \to S$ in the Hausdorff metric, $\frac{1}{2}S_j \to \frac{1}{2}S$ by Lemma 2.5.7. Also, since $u_j \to u_0$ uniformly on compact subsets, the measures Mu_j converge to Mu_0 weakly (by Lemma 2.1.4). Since Mu_j is absolutely continuous with respect to Lebesgue measure, and $Mu_j \to Mu_0$ weakly. Mu_0 is absolutely continuous with respect to Lebesgue measure at least away from $\partial\Omega_0$. Let $\rho > 0$. We need to show that $|Mu_j(\frac{1}{2}S_j) - Mu_0(\frac{1}{2}S)| < \rho$ for all $j \ge J(\rho)$.

Let $f \in C_0^0(S), 0 \le f \le 1, f \equiv 1$ on $\frac{1}{2}S$ be such that

$$\left|\int_{S} f(x) \, dM u_0 - M u_0(\frac{1}{2}S)\right| < \rho.$$

Then by the weak convergence, there exists $J_1 = J_1(\rho)$ such that if $j \ge J_1$, then $|\int_S f(x) dMu_j - \int_S f(x) dMu_0| < \rho$. Therefore,

$$\left| \int_{S} f(x) \, dMu_{j} - Mu_{0} \left(\frac{1}{2}S \right) \right| \leq \left| \int_{S} f(x) \, dMu_{j} - \int_{S} f(x) \, dMu_{0} \right| + \left| \int_{S} f(x) \, dMu_{0} - Mu_{0} \left(\frac{1}{2}S \right) \right| < 2\rho$$

and the claim will follow if $|Mu_j(\frac{1}{2}S_j) - \int_S f(x) dMu_j| < \rho$ for all j sufficiently large. We estimate this quantity in the following way:

$$|Mu_{j}(\frac{1}{2}S_{j}) - \int_{S} f(x) \, dMu_{j}|$$

$$\leq |Mu_{j}(\frac{1}{2}S_{j}) - Mu_{j}(\frac{1}{2}S)| + |Mu_{j}(\frac{1}{2}S) - \int_{S} f(x) \, dMu_{j}| = I + II.$$

We begin by examining integral I:

$$I \leq \int |\chi_{\frac{1}{2}S_j}(x) - \chi_{\frac{1}{2}S}(x)| \ dMu_j \equiv \int f_j \ dMu_j$$

We want to show that $\lim_{j\to\infty} \int f_j \, dM u_j = 0$. We have that $f_j \to 0$ pointwise a.e. (with respect to Mu_0 ; here is where the absolute continuity is needed) and $|f_j| \leq 1$ for all j. Since $\frac{1}{2}S_j \to \frac{1}{2}S$ and $\frac{1}{2}S \Subset \Omega_0$, there exists a set A such that $\frac{1}{2}S_j$, $\frac{1}{2}S \subset A \Subset \Omega_0$, for all $j \geq J_2$. By Egorov's theorem, there is a set E, with $Mu_0(E) < \rho$, such that $f_j \to 0$ uniformly on $A \cap E^c$. Since f_j can take on the values 0 and 1 only, this means that $f_j(x) = 0$ for all $j \geq J_3$ and all $x \in A \cap E^c$. Then

$$\int f_j \, dMu_j = \int_A f_j \, dMu_j = \int_E f_j \, dMu_j + \int_{A \cap E^c} f_j \, dMu_j \le Mu_j(E) + 0.$$

By the weak convergence, if $j \ge J_4$, $|Mu_j(E) - Mu_0(E)| \le \rho$, implying that $Mu_j(E) \le 2\rho$. Therefore, $I \le 2\rho$ for $j \ge \max(J_1, J_2, J_3, J_4)$.

We now consider the second integral:

$$II = \int_{S} f(x) \ dMu_j - Mu_j\left(\frac{1}{2}S\right) = \int_{S \cap \frac{1}{2}S^c} f(x) \ dMu_j.$$

Let $j \to \infty$. By the weak convergence, the left-hand side of the equation becomes

$$\int_{S} f(x) \, dMu_0 - Mu_0\left(\frac{1}{2}S\right), \text{ which is equal to } \int_{S \cap \frac{1}{2}S^c} f(x) \, dMu_0.$$

This means that

$$\lim_{j\to\infty}\int_{S\cap\frac{1}{2}S^c}f(x)\ dMu_j=\int_{S\cap\frac{1}{2}S^c}f(x)\ dMu_0<\rho.$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Therefore, if $j \ge J_5$, $II < \rho$. Combining all of these inequalities, we get that $Mu_j(\frac{1}{2}S_j) \to Mu_0(\frac{1}{2}S)$.

Now we prove (3.12). For $j \ge J_0$, we have $S_j \Subset \Omega_0$ and $S \Subset \Omega_j$. We estimate the difference as follows:

$$\left| \int_{S_j} \delta(x, S_j)^{1-\epsilon} dM u_j - \int_S \delta(x, S)^{1-\epsilon} dM u_0 \right|$$

$$\leq \left| \int_{S_j} \delta(x, S_j)^{1-\epsilon} dM u_j - \int_S \delta(x, S)^{1-\epsilon} dM u_j \right|$$

$$+ \left| \int_S \delta(x, S)^{1-\epsilon} dM u_j - \int_S \delta(x, S)^{1-\epsilon} dM u_0 \right| = I + II.$$

The integral II goes to 0 by the weak convergence. The support of $\chi_S \delta(x, S)$ is $\overline{S} \Subset \Omega_0$. Since $\delta(x, S)$ is continuous in x (Lemma 2.3.4), and $\lim_{x\to\partial S} \delta(x, S) = 0$, we have that $\chi_S \delta(x, S)$ is continuous and has compact support.

To estimate I, we write

$$I = \left| \int \chi_{S_j}(x) \delta(x, S_j)^{1-\epsilon} \, dM u_j - \int \chi_S(x) \delta(x, S)^{1-\epsilon} \, dM u_j \right|$$

$$\equiv \left| \int f_j(x) \, dM u_j - \int f(x) \, dM u_j \right| \leq \int |f_j(x) - f(x)| \, dM u_j$$

We claim that $|f_j - f| \leq 1$ and $(f_j - f) \to 0$ pointwise. The first assertion is trivial. If $x \in S$, $\chi_{S_j}(x) \to \chi_S(x) = 1$, and by the continuity of δ in the second argument with respect to the Hausdorff metric(Lemma 2.5.8), $\delta(x, S_j) \to \delta(x, S)$. If $x \in \partial S$, then f(x) = 0; for each j with $x \in S_j$, $\delta(x, S_j) \to 0$, and if $x \notin S_j$, $f_j(x) = 0$, so in any case. $f_j(x) \to f(x)$ for $x \in \partial S$. Finally, if $x \notin \overline{S}$, $x \notin S_j$ for large j, so $f_j(x) = f(x) = 0$. This establishes that $(f_j - f) \to 0$ pointwise.

Then by an argument similar to the one above (using Egorov. etc.). $I \rightarrow 0$. Therefore,

$$\int_{S_j} \delta(x, S_j)^{1-\epsilon} \, dMu_j \to \int_S \delta(x, S)^{1-\epsilon} \, dMu_0$$

for $S \in \Omega_0$ and Mu_0 satisfies the D_{ϵ} condition for these sections.

Case 2 $\partial S \cap \partial \Omega_0 \neq \emptyset$. The idea here is to approximate $S = S(x_0, p, t)$ by $S_n = S(x_0, p, t - \frac{1}{n}) \Subset \Omega_0$ and use Case 1.

From Case 1, $\int_{S_n} \delta(x, S_n)^{1-\epsilon} dMu_0 \leq CMu_0(\frac{1}{2}S_n)$. We have that $\chi_{\frac{1}{2}S_n}(x) \rightarrow \chi_{\frac{1}{2}S}(x)$ pointwise except possibly on $\partial(\frac{1}{2}S)$ (Lemma 2.5.6) and $\frac{1}{2}S_n, \frac{1}{2}S \subset A \Subset \Omega_0$ for some set A. Then $\chi_{\frac{1}{2}S_n}(x) \leq \chi_A \in L^1(Mu_0)$. Therefore, by the Dominated Convergence Theorem, $Mu_0(\frac{1}{2}S_n) \rightarrow Mu_0(\frac{1}{2}S)$.

Since $S_n \to S$ in the Hausdorff sense, $\delta(x, S_n) \to \delta(x, S)$ and $\chi_{S_n}(x) \to \chi_S(x)$. Hence, using Fatou,

$$\int_{S} \delta(x,S)^{1-\epsilon} dMu_{0} = \int_{S} \lim_{n \to \infty} (\chi_{S_{n}}(x)\delta(x,S_{n})^{1-\epsilon}) dMu_{0}$$

$$\leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{S} \chi_{S_{n}}(x)\delta(x,S_{n})^{1-\epsilon} dMu_{0} \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} CMu_{0}\left(\frac{1}{2}S_{n}\right) = CMu_{0}\left(\frac{1}{2}S\right)$$
Therefore, $Mu_{0} \in D_{\epsilon}$ on the sections of u_{0} in Ω_{0} . This completes the proof of the Selection Lemma. \Box

3.4 Hölder Continuity of the Gradient

Theorem 3.4.1 (Compare with Theorem 5.3.3 in [3]) Given Ω a convex. bounded and normalized domain in \mathbb{R}^n , consider $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$, convex. with $u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0$ and such that $Mu \in D_{\epsilon_1}(C)$ and is absolutely continuous with respect to Lebesgue measure. Suppose also that $0 < \lambda \leq |\inf_{\Omega} u| \leq \Lambda$. Then for each $\epsilon > 0$, there exists $\rho = \rho(\epsilon)$ such that for all Ω normalized, for all x_0 with dist $(x_0, \partial\Omega) \geq \epsilon$. for all functions u satisfying the above conditions, and for all supporting hyperplanes l(x) to u at x_0 , we have that $\{x \in \Omega : u(x) < l(x) + \rho\} \Subset \Omega$.

Moreover, $\{x \in \Omega : u(x) < l(x) + \rho\} \subset \{x \in \Omega : u(x) < -\bar{C}\epsilon\}$, where $\bar{C} = \bar{C}(C, \epsilon_1, n, \lambda, \Lambda)$ and ρ depends only on $\epsilon, \epsilon_1, n, \lambda$ and Λ .

Proof By contradiction. Suppose there exists $\epsilon > 0$ such that for each $\rho = \frac{1}{i}$, there exists a normalized convex domain Ω_j , a point $x_j \in \Omega_j$ with

 $dist(x_j, \partial \Omega_j) \ge \epsilon$. a function u_j satisfying the hypotheses in Ω_j and l_j , a supporting hyperplane to u_j at x_j such that

$$S_j = \{x \in \Omega_j : u_j(x) < l_j(x) + \frac{1}{j}\} \not\subset \{x \in \Omega_j : u_j(x) < -\bar{C}\epsilon\}.$$

Then by Lemma 3.3.1. there exists:

(a) Ω_0 , a normalized convex domain, (b) u_0 , a convex function in Ω_0 satisfying $Mu_0 \in D_{\epsilon_1}(C)$, $u_0|_{\partial\Omega_0} = 0$, and $\lambda \leq |\inf_{\Omega_0} u_0| \leq \Lambda$. (c) a point $x_0 \in \Omega_0$ such that $dist(x_0, \partial\Omega_0) \geq \epsilon$, and (d) a supporting hyperplane l_0 to u_0 at x_0 such that $S_0 = \{x \in \Omega_0 : u_0(x) = l_0(x)\} \not\subset \{x \in \Omega_0 : u_0(x) < -\bar{C}\epsilon\} = T_0$. So there is a point $z \in S_0$ with $u_0(z) \geq -\bar{C}\epsilon$. Since l_0 is a supporting hyperplane at x_0 , it follows that $u_0 = l_0$ on the segment from x_0 to z.

We now apply the following lemma (Lemma 5.1.6 in [3]) to u_0 in the normalized domain Ω_0 .

Lemma 3.4.2 Let Γ be a convex and bounded domain in \mathbb{R}^n . and let $u \in C(\tilde{\Gamma})$ be convex and zero on $\partial \Gamma$. If T is an affine transformation that normalizes Γ then

$$\{x \in \Gamma : dist(Tx, \partial T(\Gamma)) > \eta\} \subset \{x \in \Gamma : u(x) \le \eta \theta_n \min u\}.$$

for all $0 < \eta < 1$, where θ_n is a dimensional constant.

We obtain:

$$\{x \in \Omega_0 : dist(x, \partial \Omega_0) \ge \epsilon\} \subset \{x \in \Omega_0 : u_0(x) < -\bar{C}\epsilon\}$$

where $\tilde{C} = \theta_n |\min_{\Omega_0} u_0|$. In our case, $|\min_{\Omega_0} u_0|$ can be replaced by a constant depending on the structure since $|\min_{\Omega_0} u_0| \ge \lambda$, this gives us the constant \tilde{C} .

The point x_0 is in T_0 since $dist(x_0, \partial \Omega_0) \ge \epsilon$, implying that $u_0(x_0) < -\bar{C}\epsilon$. Therefore $x_0 \ne z$. Then $\overline{x_0 z} \subset S_0$, so that S_0 contains more than one point. By applying Theorem 3.2.1 to $u_0 - l_0$ in Ω_0 , we conclude that S_0 has no extremal points inside Ω_0 . The contradiction arises by showing that S_0 must have an extremal point in Ω_0 .

For every $x \in \Omega_0$, $u_0(x) < 0$, because otherwise by convexity $u_0 \equiv 0$, contradicting $|\inf_{\Omega_0} u_0| \ge \lambda > 0$.

Then by the following result (Lemma 5.3.2 in [3]), we see that S_0 must have an extremal point in Ω_0 .

Lemma 3.4.3 Let u be convex in Γ . such that for some $x_0 \in \Gamma^0$, we have $u(x) > u(x_0)$ for all $x \in \partial \Gamma$. Let l_{x_0} be any supporting hyperplane to u at x_0 . If the set

$$E = \{x \in \Gamma : u(x) = l_{x_0}(x)\}$$

contains more than one point, then E has an extremal point inside Γ .

This completes the proof of Theorem 3.4.1. \Box

We next prove two technical lemmas concerning the relationship of the dilation of a normalized domain and the dilation of a sublevel set. These results will be used in the first part of the argument for the $C^{1,\alpha}$ of functions whose Monge-Ampère measures are D_{ϵ} .

Lemma 3.4.4 (Compare with Lemma 5.4.1 in [3]) Suppose Ω is a normalized convex domain, $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ is convex and $u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0$, $Mu \in D_{\epsilon}(C)$ and is absolutely continuous with respect to Lebesgue measure and $u(x_0) = \min_{\Omega} u$. Suppose also that $0 < \lambda \leq |\min_{\Omega} u| \leq \Lambda$. Given $0 < \eta \leq 1$, define

$$\Omega_{\eta} = \{ x \in \Omega : u(x) < (1 - \eta) \min_{\Omega} u \}.$$

Then there exists a constant ν , $0 < \nu < 1$, depending on n, ϵ , the D_{ϵ} constant C, λ and Λ . such that $\frac{1}{2}\Omega \subset \nu\Omega_{\frac{1}{2}}$, where the dilations are with respect to x_0 .

Proof The proof is by contradiction. By the extremal points theorem (Theorem 3.2.1), there is a unique point where the minimum is attained. If the lemma is not true, then for each j = 2, 3, 4, ... and $\nu_j = 1 - \frac{1}{j}$, there exists a convex normalized domain Ω_j and a convex function u_j satisfying $u_j|_{\partial\Omega_j} = 0$,

 $Mu_j \in D_{\epsilon}(C)$, Mu_j absolutely continuous, and $\lambda \leq |\min_{\Omega_j} u_j| \leq \Lambda$, but $\frac{1}{2}\Omega_j \not\subset \nu_j(\Omega_j)_{\frac{1}{2}}$, where the dilations are with respect to x_j , the point satisfying $u_j(x_j) = \min_{\Omega_j} u_j$.

In other words.

$$\frac{1}{2}\Omega_j = \{x_j + \frac{1}{2}(x - x_j) : x \in \Omega_j\} \not\subset \nu_j(\Omega_j)_{\frac{1}{2}} = \{x_j + \nu_j(x - x_j) : x \in (\Omega_j)_{\frac{1}{2}}\}.$$

Note $x_j \in \frac{1}{2}\Omega_j \cap \nu_j(\Omega_j)_{\frac{1}{2}}$ for all j, so by convexity $\frac{1}{2}\Omega_j \cap \partial(\nu_j(\Omega_j)_{\frac{1}{2}}) \neq \emptyset$. Let $y_j \in \frac{1}{2}\Omega_j \cap \partial(\nu_j(\Omega_j)_{\frac{1}{2}})$. Then $\{y_j\} \subset B_1(0)$, so $\{y_j\}$ has a convergent subsequence say, $y_j \to y_0$.

Therefore, by Lemma 3.3.1, there exists a normalized convex domain Ω_0 , a convex function $u_0 \in C(\bar{\Omega}_0)$ satisfying $Mu_0 \in D_{\epsilon}(C)$ with $u_0|_{\partial\Omega_0} = 0$, and $u_j \to u_0$ uniformly on compact subsets. We also have the following inclusion for any $\epsilon_0 > 0$ (see (3.9)).

$$\{x \in \Omega_j : dist(x, \partial\Omega_j) \ge \epsilon_0\} \subset \{x \in \Omega_0 : dist(x, \partial\Omega_0) \ge \frac{\epsilon_0}{2}\}$$

for all j sufficiently large depending on ϵ_0 .

Claim: $y_0 \in \frac{1}{2}\overline{\Omega_0} \cap \partial(\Omega_0)_{\frac{1}{2}}$, where the dilation is with respect to the (unique) point x_0 for which $u_0(x_0) = \min_{\Omega_0} u_0$. We assume this claim for now.

Construct the line through x_0 and y_0 . This crosses $\partial \Omega_0$ at some point y_0^* . Since $y_0 \in \partial(\Omega_0)_{\frac{1}{2}}$, $u_0(y_0) = \frac{1}{2}\min_{\Omega_0} u_0 = \frac{1}{2}u_0(x_0)$. Now write $y_0 = \theta x_0 + (1 - \theta)y_0^*$ for some $0 < \theta < 1$. Then

$$u_0(y_0) = \frac{1}{2} \min_{\Omega_0} u_0 \le \theta u_0(x_0) + (1 - \theta) u_0(y_0^*) = \theta \min_{\Omega_0} u_0.$$

Since $u_0 \leq 0$, this means that $\theta \leq \frac{1}{2}$. Now suppose that $\theta < \frac{1}{2}$. Then $y_0 = x_0 + (1-\theta)(y_0^* - x_0) \in (1-\theta)\partial\Omega_0$. But $1-\theta > \frac{1}{2}$, contradicting the fact that $y_0 \in \frac{1}{2}(\Omega_0)$, and therefore $\theta = \frac{1}{2}$.

This means that u_0 is linear on the segment L from x_0 to y_0^* . This implies that $L \subset \{u_0 = l_{x_0}\}$, where l_{x_0} is any supporting hyperplane to u_0 . Hence the set where u_0 and l_{x_0} agree has more than one point. Therefore, this set has no extremal points in Ω_0 , but $0 = u_0(x) > u_0(x_0)$ for all $x \in \partial \Omega_0$. Hence by Lemma 3.4.3, this set has an interior extremal point. This provides the contradiction.

It remains to prove the claim. Since $y_j \in \frac{1}{2}\Omega_j$, $y_j = x_j + \frac{1}{2}(z_j - x_j)$ for some $z_j \in \Omega_j$. Since $\{|u_j(x_j)|\}$ is bounded between two positive constants and Ω_j is normalized, we have that $dist(x_j, \partial\Omega_j) \ge \epsilon_0$ for all j by Theorem 2.4.2 and Proposition 2.4.4.

From (3.9). $dist(x_j, \partial \Omega_0) \geq \frac{\epsilon_0}{2}$ for all j large enough. So by passing to a subsequence, we may assume that $x_j \to \bar{x}$. We will show that $\bar{x} = x_0$. For j sufficiently large, x_j and \bar{x} are contained in a compact subset of Ω_0 (since $\Omega_j \to \Omega_0$); on this compact set $u_j \to u_0$ uniformly. Therefore for any $x \in \Omega_0$, we have $u_j(x_j) \leq u_j(x)$; letting $j \to \infty$, we obtain $u_0(\bar{x}) \leq u_0(x)$. Hence, \bar{x} is a minimum for u_0 , so $\bar{x} = x_0$.

Select a subsequence of the $\{z_j\}$, such that $z_j \to z_0$. Since $z_j \in \Omega_j$ and $\Omega_j \to \Omega_0$, we get that $z_0 \in \overline{\Omega}_0$. Let $j \to \infty$ in the equation

$$y_j = x_j + \frac{1}{2}(z_j - x_j)$$

to get

$$y_0 = x_0 + \frac{1}{2}(z_0 - x_0)$$

so that $y_0 \in \frac{1}{2}\Omega_0$. It remains to show that $y_0 \in \partial(\Omega_0)_{\frac{1}{2}}$. We have that $y_j \in \partial(\nu_j(\Omega_j)_{\frac{1}{2}}) = \nu_j(\partial(\Omega_j)_{\frac{1}{2}})$, so that $y_j = x_j + \nu_j(w_j - x_j)$ for some $w_j \in \partial(\Omega_j)_{\frac{1}{2}}$. Then we have that $u_j(w_j) = \frac{1}{2}u_j(x_j) = \frac{1}{2}\min_{\Omega_j} u_j$. As before, Theorem 2.4.2 and Proposition 2.4.4 guarantee that the w_j lie at least a uniform distance from $\partial\Omega_j$, implying that $dist(w_j, \partial\Omega_0) \geq \bar{\epsilon} > 0$ for j large enough. Select a subsequence $w_j \to w_0$. Then by the uniform convergence of the u_j on compact subsets, we obtain $u_0(w_0) = \lim_{j\to\infty} u_j(w_j)$.

Now let $j \to \infty$ in the equation $y_j = x_j + \nu_j(w_j - x_j)$ to get $y_0 = x_0 + (w_0 - x_0) = w_0$, since $\nu_j \to 1$. So we have that $u_j(w_j) \to u_0(w_0)$, but on the other hand, $u_j(w_j) = \frac{1}{2}u_j(x_j) \to \frac{1}{2}u_0(x_0)$. This means that $u_0(w_0) = \frac{1}{2}u_0(x_0)$, i.e. $w_0 \in \partial(\Omega_0)_{\frac{1}{2}}$. This proves the claim and hence the lemma. \Box

Lemma 3.4.5 (See Corollary 5.4.4 in [3]) Suppose that Ω is a normalized convex domain, $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ is convex and $u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0$. $Mu \in D_{\epsilon}(C)$ and is absolutely continuous with respect to Lebesgue measure, and $u(x_0) = \min_{\Omega} u =$ -1. Then there exists a constant $\nu \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$\Omega \subset (2\nu)^k \Omega_{\frac{1}{2^k}}$$

for $k = 1, 2, 3, ..., \nu = \nu(n, \epsilon, D_{\epsilon} \text{ constant})$, where the dilations are with respect to the point x_0 .

Proof The case k = 1 is covered by the previous lemma. The ν in the preceding result depends on $n.\epsilon$. the D_{ϵ} constant. and $\min_{\Omega} u$. Since this minimum is -1, in this case we can remove the dependence of ν on $\min_{\Omega} u$.

Case k = 2: Let T_1 normalize $\Omega_{\frac{1}{2}}$, and denote $T_1(\Omega_{\frac{1}{2}})$ by Ω_1^* . Let $v_1(x) = 2[u(T_1^{-1}x) + \frac{1}{2}]$. Then $v_1|_{\partial\Omega_1^*} = 0$, $Mv_1 \in D_{\epsilon}(C)$, and $\min_{\Omega_1^*} v_1 = v_1(T_1x_0) = -1$. Apply the previous lemma to v_1 in Ω_1^* , to get $\frac{1}{2}\Omega_1^* \subset \nu(\Omega_1^*)_{\frac{1}{2}}$. Now

$$\begin{aligned} (\Omega_1^{\bullet})_{\frac{1}{2}} &= \{ x \in \Omega_1^{\bullet} : v_1(x) < \frac{1}{2} \min_{\Omega_1^{\bullet}} v_1 \} = \{ x \in \Omega_1^{\bullet} : 2[u(T_1^{-1}x) + \frac{1}{2}] < -\frac{1}{2} \} \\ &= \{ x \in \Omega_1^{\bullet} : u(T_1^{-1}x) < -\frac{3}{4} \} = T_1(\{ x \in \Omega_{\frac{1}{2}} : u(x) < -\frac{3}{4} \}) = T_1(\Omega_{\frac{1}{4}}). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, $\nu(T_1(\Omega_{\frac{1}{4}})) = T_1(\nu\Omega_{\frac{1}{4}})$ contains $\frac{1}{2}(T_1(\Omega_{\frac{1}{2}})) = T_1(\frac{1}{2}\Omega_{\frac{1}{2}})$. Hence, by applying T_1^{-1} , we get $\frac{1}{2}\Omega_{\frac{1}{2}} \subset \nu\Omega_{\frac{1}{4}}$, or $\Omega_{\frac{1}{2}} \subset (2\nu)\Omega_{\frac{1}{4}}$. Combining this with the preceding step, we get

$$\Omega \subset (2\nu)\Omega_{\frac{1}{2}} \subset (2\nu)^2\Omega_{\frac{1}{4}}.$$

Case k = 3: Let T_2 normalize $\Omega_{\frac{1}{4}}$, and denote $T_2(\Omega_{\frac{1}{4}})$ by Ω_2^* . Let $v_2(x) = 4[u(T_2^{-1}x) + \frac{3}{4}]$. Then $v_2|_{\partial\Omega_2^*} = 0$. $Mv_2 \in D_{\epsilon}(C)$, and $\min_{\Omega_2^*} v_2 = v_2(T_2x_0) = -1$. By Lemma 3.4.4 applied to v_2 in Ω_2^* . $\nu(\Omega_2^*)_{\frac{1}{2}}$ contains $\frac{1}{2}\Omega_2^*$. Then:

$$(\Omega_{2}^{\bullet})_{\frac{1}{2}} = \{ x \in \Omega_{2}^{\bullet} : v_{2}(x) < -\frac{1}{2} \} = \{ x \in \Omega_{2}^{\bullet} : u(T_{2}^{-1}x) < -\frac{7}{8} \}$$
$$= T_{2}(\{ x \in \Omega_{\frac{1}{4}} : u(x) < -\frac{7}{8} \}) = T_{2}(\Omega_{\frac{1}{8}}).$$

Therefore, $\frac{1}{2}\Omega_{\frac{1}{4}} \subset \nu\Omega_{\frac{1}{3}}$, or $\Omega_{\frac{1}{4}} \subset (2\nu)\Omega_{\frac{1}{3}}$. Hence, by the previous steps:

$$\Omega \subset (2\nu)\Omega_{\frac{1}{2}} \subset (2\nu)^2 \Omega_{\frac{1}{4}} \subset (2\nu)^3 \Omega_{\frac{1}{8}}.$$

In general, let T_k normalize $\Omega_{\frac{1}{2^k}}$ and $v_k(x) = 2^k [u(T_k^{-1}x) + (1 - \frac{1}{2^k})]$. As above, we conclude that $\Omega_{\frac{1}{2^{k-1}}} \subset (2\nu)\Omega_{\frac{1}{2^k}}$. \Box

Theorem 3.4.6 (Compare with Theorem 5.4.5 in [3]) Let Ω be bounded, open and convex. and let $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ be convex. with $u|_{\partial\Omega} = 0$. Then if $Mu \in D_{\epsilon}$ for some $\epsilon \in (0,1]$ and is absolutely continuous with respect to Lebesgue measure. then u is $C^{1,\alpha}$ in the interior of Ω for some $0 < \alpha < 1$.

Before proving this theorem, we make a few remarks. First we explain what it means to say that a function is $C^{1,\alpha}$ at a point. By definition, a function u is $C^{1,\alpha}$ on an open set if it is differentiable there and its gradient is Hölder continuous. We want to expand this definition to include functions that may not be differentiable everywhere.

We say that a function u is $C^{1,\alpha}$ at the point x_0 , where x_0 is a minimum for u if $0 \le u(x) - u(x_0) \le C|x - x_0|^{1+\alpha}$ holds for all x. This is a sensible generalization of Hölder continuity of the gradient, since if u was $C^{1,\alpha}$ on a domain containing x_0 , and x_0 is a minimum for u, this estimate would be satisfied. Indeed, in this case we would have (by Taylor)

$$0 \le u(x) - u(x_0) = \nabla u(\xi) \cdot (x - x_0) = \nabla u(\xi) \cdot (x - x_0) - \nabla u(x_0) \cdot (x - x_0)$$

for some ξ lying between x and x_0 . Taking absolute value, we get

$$|u(x) - u(x_0)| \le |\nabla u(\xi) - \nabla u(x_0)| |x - x_0| \le C |\xi - x_0|^{\alpha} |x - x_0| \le C |x - x_0|^{1+\alpha}.$$

Suppose now that u is convex and satisfies the inequality $|u(x) - l_{x_0}(x)| \leq C|x-x_0|^{\alpha+1}$ for any supporting hyperplane $l_{x_0}(x)$ to u at x_0 , at every point of the domain x_0 . Then we claim that u is $C^{1,\alpha}$. We first show that this inequality implies that at each point x_0 . u has a unique supporting hyperplane. Let $l_{x_0}^1$ and $l_{x_0}^2$ be two support planes to u at x_0 . Then for any x:

$$|l_{x_0}^1(x) - l_{x_0}^2(x)| \le |u(x) - l_{x_0}^1(x)| + |u(x) - l_{x_0}^2(x)| \le 2C|x - x_0|^{1+\alpha}.$$

Write $l_{x_0}^1(x) = u(x_0) + p_1 \cdot (x - x_0)$ and $l_{x_0}^2(x) = u(x_0) + p_2 \cdot (x - x_0)$. Substituting these expressions into the previous inequality we obtain $|(p_1 - p_2) \cdot (x - x_0)| \le 2C|x - x_0|^{1+\alpha}$. By choosing x close to x_0 and such that $(p_1 - p_2) \cdot (x - x_0) = |p_1 - p_2||x - x_0|$, we see that this is possible only if $p_1 = p_2$. This means that there is exactly one supporting hyperplane to u at each point x_0 . Let this hyperplane be defined by the vector $p(x_0) = \nabla u(x_0)$. Then from the hypothesis we have

$$|u(x) - u(x_0) - \nabla u(x_0) \cdot (x - x_0)| \le C |x - x_0|^{1+\alpha}.$$

By dividing both sides by $|x - x_0|$, we get

$$\frac{|u(x) - u(x_0) - \nabla u(x_0) \cdot (x - x_0)|}{|x - x_0|} \le C|x - x_0|^{\alpha}.$$

In other words, u is differentiable at x_0 . We can repeat the same argument for any point in the domain, and conclude that u is differentiable everywhere. The next step is to show that u is $C^{1,\alpha}$. Fix any two points x and x_0 . Then $|(\nabla u(x) - \nabla u(x_0)) \cdot (x - x_0)|$

$$= |u(x) - \nabla u(x_0) \cdot (x - x_0) - u(x_0) + u(x_0) - \nabla u(x) \cdot (x_0 - x) - u(x)|$$

$$\leq |u(x) - \nabla u(x_0) \cdot (x - x_0) - u(x_0)| + |u(x_0) - \nabla u(x) \cdot (x_0 - x) - u(x)|$$

$$\leq C|x - x_0|^{1+\alpha} + C|x - x_0|^{1+\alpha}.$$

Therefore $|\nabla u(x) - \nabla u(x_0)| |x - x_0| \le 2C|x - x_0|^{1+\alpha}$, or $|\nabla u(x) - \nabla u(x_0)| \le 2C|x - x_0|^{\alpha}$. This completes the proof of the claim.

Proof of Theorem 3.4.6 The proof proceeds in a sequence of steps.

Step 1 If Ω is normalized and $\min_{\Omega} u = u(x_0) = -1$, then u is $C^{1,\alpha}$ at x_0 .

The point x_0 where the minimum is attained is unique by the result on extremal points. By Theorem 2.4.2 and Proposition 2.4.4. $dist(x_0, \partial\Omega) > \rho$, where ρ depends on $n.\epsilon$, and the D_{ϵ} constant. From this we see that $B_{\rho}(x_0) \subset \Omega$. Let $x \in \Omega$. $x \neq x_0$. Then there exists a $k \geq 1$ such that $2^{-k} \leq u(x) - u(x_0) \leq 2^{-k+1}$. Then since $u(x_0) = -1$, we get that $u(x) \geq -(1-2^{-k})$, so $x \notin \Omega_{\frac{1}{2^k}}$. So by Lemma 3.4.5. $x \notin (2\nu)^{-k} B_{\rho}(x_0) = B_{\frac{\rho}{(2\nu)^k}}(x_0)$, and hence $|x - x_0| \ge \rho (2\nu)^{-k}$.

We can take $\nu > \frac{1}{2}$, so $\nu = 2^{-\theta}$ for some $\theta \in (0, 1)$. Hence, $|x - x_0| \ge \rho(2^{1-\theta})^{-k} = \rho(2^{-k})^{1-\theta}$. Since $u(x) - u(x_0) < 2^{-k+1}$, we see that $2^{-k} > \frac{u(x)-u(x_0)}{2}$. By raising both sides of the last inequality to the power $1 - \theta$, and then multiplying by ρ , we get the inequality

$$|x - x_0| \ge \rho(2^{-k})^{1-\theta} > \rho\left(\frac{u(x) - u(x_0)}{2}\right)^{1-\theta}$$

From this, we obtain $0 \le u(x) - u(x_0) \le 2\left(\frac{1}{\rho}\right)^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}} |x - x_0|^{\frac{1}{1-\theta}}$, proving the claim for this step, since $\frac{1}{1-\theta} > 1$.

Step 2 If Ω is not necessarily normalized, and $\min_{\Omega} u$ is not necessarily -1, then u is $C^{1,\alpha}$ at its minimum x_0 .

Let T normalize Ω (Tx = Ax + b for an invertible matrix A and some $b \in \mathbb{R}^n$), and define $u^*(y) = |\min_{\Omega} u|^{-1}u(T^{-1}y)$. Then $Mu^* \in D_{\epsilon}(C)$ in $\Omega^* = T(\Omega)$ and $\min_{\Omega^*} u^* = -1$ and this minimum is attained at Tx_0 . Then by Step 1 we have that,

$$0 \le u^*(y) - u^*(Tx_0) \le C(\epsilon, n, D_{\epsilon} \text{constant})|y - Tx_0|^{\alpha+1}$$

Let y = Tx. Then:

$$0 \le u(x) - u(x_0) \le C(\epsilon, n, D_{\epsilon} \text{constant}) |\min_{\Omega} u| |Tx - Tx_0|^{\alpha+1} \text{ or}$$
$$0 \le u(x) - u(x_0) \le C ||A||^{\alpha+1} |\min_{\Omega} u| |x - x_0|^{\alpha+1}.$$

Step 3 If Ω is normalized, then u is $C^{1,\alpha}$ in the interior of Ω .

We prove that if $dist(\bar{x}, \partial \Omega) \ge \rho$, then

$$|u(x) - l_{\bar{x}}(x)| \le C(n, \epsilon, \rho, D_{\epsilon} const. |\min_{\Omega} u|) |x - \bar{x}|^{\alpha+1}$$

where $l_{\bar{x}}(x)$ is any support plane to u at \bar{x} .

By Theorem 3.4.1, there exists $\rho_0 = \rho_0(n, \epsilon, \rho, D_{\epsilon} const, |\min_{\Omega} u|)$ such that

$$\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0} \equiv \{x \in \Omega : u(x) < l_{\bar{x}}(x) + \rho_0\} \subset \{x \in \Omega : u(x) < -\bar{C}\rho\} \Subset \Omega,$$

where $\bar{C} = \bar{C}(n, \epsilon, D_{\epsilon}const, |\min_{\Omega} u|)$. Let T normalize $\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0}$ and let $v(x) = u(x) - l_{\bar{x}}(x) - \rho_0$. Then $v|_{\partial\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0}} = 0$ and $v(\bar{x}) = \min_{\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0}} v = -\rho_0$. Then by Step 2.

$$0 \le v(x) - v(\bar{x}) \le C(\epsilon, n, D_{\epsilon} const) |\min_{\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0}} v|||A||^{1+\alpha} |x - \bar{x}|^{1+\alpha}.$$

Then since $|\min_{\Omega_{\hat{x},\rho_0}} v| = \rho_0$, the claim holds if ||A|| can be dominated as claimed. As on p.98 of [3], $||A|| = \max \lambda_i^{-1}$, where the λ_i are the lengths of the axes of the minimum ellipsoid of $\Omega_{\hat{x},\rho_0}$, and det $A = (\lambda_1)^{-1} \cdots (\lambda_n)^{-1}$.

Define $u^*(x) = |\det A|^{\frac{2}{n}} v(T^{-1}x)$. We claim that $|\min_{T(\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0})} u^*|^n$ is comparable to $Mu^*(\frac{1}{2}T(\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0}))$. Indeed by Proposition 2.4.4 and the D_{ϵ} condition, we have that $|\min_{T(\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0})} u^*|^n \leq C \int_{T(\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0})} \delta(x, T(\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0}))^{1-\epsilon} dMu^* \leq Mu^*(\frac{1}{2}T(\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0}))$. For the other inequality, we again use Proposition 2.4.4 and also use the fact that if $x \in \frac{1}{2}T(\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0})$, then $\delta(x, T(\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0})) \geq C_n$. More precisely,

$$\left|\min_{T(\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0})} u^*\right|^n \ge C \int_{T(\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0})} \delta(x, T(\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0}))^{1-\epsilon} dM u^*$$
$$\ge C \int_{\frac{1}{2}T(\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0})} \delta(x, T(\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0}))^{1-\epsilon} dM u^* \ge CM u^* (\frac{1}{2}T(\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0}))$$

We have that $|\min_{T(\Omega_{x,\rho_0})} u^*|^n = |\det A|^2 \rho_0^n$ and (by (2.1))

$$Mu^{*}(\frac{1}{2}T(\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_{0}})) = |\det A| Mu(T^{-1}(\frac{1}{2}T(\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_{0}})).$$

This implies that

$$|\det A|^2 \rho_0^n \approx |\det A| M u \left(T^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{2} T(\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0}) \right) \right)$$

or

$$|\det A| \le C\rho_0^{-n} Mu(T^{-1}(\frac{1}{2}T(\Omega_{\bar{x},\rho_0})) \le C\rho_0^{-n} Mu(\{x \in \Omega : u(x) < -C\rho\}).$$

Since $\lambda_i \leq 1$. $||A|| = \max\{\lambda_i^{-1}\} = \lambda_j^{-1} \leq (\lambda_1)^{-1} \cdots (\lambda_n)^{-1} = \det A$. Therefore ||A|| can be estimated by n, ϵ . the D_{ϵ} constant, $\rho, |\min u|$ and $Mu(\{x \in \Omega : u(x) < -C\rho\})$. By the remark preceding Step 1, we see that this establishes the claim for this step.

Step 4 If Ω is not normalized, then u is $C^{1,\alpha}$ in the interior of Ω .

Let T be an affine transformation that normalizes Ω , and define $u^*(y) = u(T^{-1}y)$ for $y \in T(\Omega)$. Now apply Step 3 to u^* in the normalized domain $T(\Omega)$. The constant appearing in the inequality will also depend on ||T||, which depends on the eccentricity and volume of Ω . \Box

CHAPTER 4

ESTIMATES FOR THE PARABOLIC MONGE-AMPÈRE EQUATION

In this chapter we show that the estimates of Jerison also hold for parabolically convex solutions of the parabolic Monge-Ampère equation $-u_t \det D_x^2 u = f$ on bowl-shaped domains. First we will need to introduce some notation and define some terminology.

Let $D \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ and let $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Then denote

$$D(t) = \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n : (x, t) \in D \}.$$

The set D is said to be a bowl-shaped domain if D(t) is convex for every tand $D(t_1) \subset D(t_2)$ whenever $t_1 \leq t_2$. Now suppose that D is bounded and let $t_0 = \inf\{t : D(t) \neq \emptyset\}$. The parabolic boundary of D is defined to be

$$\partial_p D = (\bar{D}(t_0) \times \{t_0\}) \cup \left(\bigcup_{t \in \mathbb{R}} (\partial D(t) \times \{t\})\right).$$

For a bowl-shaped domain D we define the set D_{t_0} to be $D_{t_0} = D \cap \{(x, t) : t \leq t_0\}$.

A function $u : \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$, u = u(x, t), is called parabolically convex if it is continuous, convex in x and non-increasing in t.

We next define the parabolic normal map and parabolic Monge-Ampère measure. As in the elliptic case, this will lead to the notion of weak solution for this operator. Let $D \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ be an open, bounded bowl-shaped domain, and u be a continuous real-valued function on D. The parabolic normal mapping of u at a point (x_0, t_0) is the set-valued function

$$P_u(x_0, t_0) = \{ (p, h) : u(x, t) \ge u(x_0, t_0) + p \cdot (x - x_0) \text{ for all } x \in D(t) \text{ with } t \le t_0,$$
$$h = p \cdot x_0 - u(x_0, t_0) \}.$$

As before, the parabolic normal mapping of a set $E \subset D$ is defined to be the union of the parabolic normal maps of each point in the set. The family of subsets E of D for which $P_u(E)$ is Lebesgue measurable is a Borel σ -algebra and the map taking such a set E to its Lebesgue measure is a measure, called the parabolic Monge-Ampère measure associated to the function u. In what follows, the notation $|E|_k$ denotes the Lebesgue measure of the set E in \mathbb{R}^k .

There is a parabolic analog of Aleksandrov's estimate due to Gutiérrez and Huang [G-H p. 1463].

Theorem 4.0.1 Let $D \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ be an open bounded bowl-shaped domain, and let $u \in C(\overline{D})$ be a parabolically convex function with u = 0 on $\partial_p D$. If $(x_0, t_0) \in D$, then

$$|u(x_0, t_0)|^{n+1} \le C_n dist(x_0, \partial D(t_0)) diam(D(t_0))^{n-1} |P_u(D_{t_0})|_{n+1}$$

where C_n is a dimensional constant.

We now prove the following parabolic versions of Jerison's estimates. The proofs follow the same outline as those given in Chapter 2.

Lemma 4.0.2 (Compare with Lemma 2.4.3) Let D be a bounded, open bowlshaped domain in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . Suppose $u \in C(\overline{D})$ is parabolically convex, $u|_{\partial_p(D)} = 0$. Then there exists a dimensional constant C_n such that

$$|u(x_0,t_0)|^{n+1} \leq C_n \delta(x_0,D(t_0))|D(t_0)|_n |P_u(D_{t_0})|_{n+1}$$

for any $(x_0, t_0) \in D$, where $\delta(x_0, D(t_0))$ is the normalized distance from (x_0, t_0) to the boundary of the n-dimensional convex set $D(t_0)$.

Proof $D(t_0)$ is a bounded convex subset of a copy of \mathbb{R}^n . Let T be an affine transformation of \mathbb{R}^n that normalizes $D(t_0)$. Define $\tilde{T} : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ by $\tilde{T}(x,t) = (Tx,t)$. Then $\tilde{T}(D_{t_0}) \subset B_1(0) \times [K,t_0]$ for some $K < t_0$. Let $v(z) = u(\tilde{T}^{-1}z)$ for $z \in \tilde{T}(D)$.

Then $\tilde{T}(D)$ is a bowl-shaped domain. v is continuous on the closure of $\tilde{T}(D)$, is parabolically convex, and zero on $\partial_p \tilde{T}(D)$.

Now apply the parabolic Aleksandrov estimate (Theorem 4.0.1) to v in $\tilde{T}(D)$ to obtain

$$|u(x_0, t_0)|^{n+1} = |v(\tilde{T}(x_0, t_0))|^{n+1}$$

$$\leq C_n dist(Tx_0, \partial \tilde{T}(D(t_0)))[diam(\tilde{T}(D(t_0)))]^{n-1}|P_v(\tilde{T}(D_{t_0}))|_{n+1}.$$
(4.1)

We next claim that $|P_v(\tilde{T}(D_{t_0}))|_{n+1} = |\det T^{-1}| |P_u(D_{t_0})|_{n+1}$. Let $p \in \partial u(x_0)$. Then

$$u(x, t_0) \ge u(x_0, t_0) + p \cdot (x - x_0)$$

for all $x \in D(t_0)$. Since u is non-increasing in t.

$$u(x,t) \ge u(x,t_0) \ge u(x_0,t_0) + p \cdot (x-x_0)$$

for all $x \in D(t)$ and $t \leq t_0$, so $(p, h) \in P_u(x_0, t_0)$ where $h = p \cdot x_0 - u(x_0, t_0)$. If $p \notin \partial u(x_0)$, $(p, h) \notin P_u(x_0, t_0)$, so therefore, $p \in \partial u(x_0)$ if and only if $(p, h) \in P_u(x_0, t_0)$.

We also know that $p \in \partial u(x_0)$ if and only if $(T^{-1})^t p \in \partial v(Tx_0)$. Let y = Tx. Then as above, for $t \leq t_0$,

$$v(y,t) \ge v(y,t_0) + (T^{-1})^t p \cdot (y - Tx_0).$$

Hence. $(T^{-1})^t p \in \partial v(Tx_0)$ if and only if $((T^{-1})^t p, \tilde{h}) \in P_v(Tx_0, t_0)$, where $\tilde{h} = (T^{-1})^t p \cdot Tx_0 - v(Tx_0, t) = p \cdot x_0 - u(x_0) = h$. In other words. $(p, h) \in P_u(x_0, t_0)$ if and only if $((T^{-1})^t p, h) \in P_v(Tx_0, t_0)$.

We also have $(\tilde{T}^{-1})^t(p,h) = ((T^{-1})^t p,h)$ which implies that $(\tilde{T}^{-1})^t P_u(E) = P_v(\tilde{T}(E))$ for any Borel set $E \subset D$. In particular, $(\tilde{T}^{-1})^t P_u(D_{t_0}) = P_v(\tilde{T}(D_{t_0}))$. This implies that

$$|\det \tilde{T}^{-1}| |P_u(D_{t_0})| = |P_v(\tilde{T}(D_{t_0}))|,$$

but det $\tilde{T}^{-1} = \det T^{-1}$.

Then using this last claim, Lemma 2.3.3, and the fact that $|\det T^{-1}| \leq C(n)|D(t_0)|_n$, we continue from (4.1) and prove the claimed estimate:

$$\leq C_n \delta(Tx_0, T(D(t_0))) |P_v(\tilde{T}(D_{t_0})|_{n+1}$$

$$= C_n \delta(x_0, D(t_0)) |P_v(\tilde{T}(D_{t_0})|_{n+1}$$

$$= C_n \delta(x_0, D(t_0)) |\det T^{-1}| |P_u(D_{t_0})|_{n+1}$$

$$\leq C_n \delta(x_0, D(t_0)) |D(t_0)|_n |P_u(D_{t_0})|_{n+1}.$$

_	_	
г	Т	
L	1	
_	4	

Lemma 4.0.3 Let $0 < \epsilon < 1$. Let E be a bounded open bowl-shaped domain in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . such that $E \subset B_1(0) \times (-\infty, \infty)$. Suppose $u \in C(\overline{E})$ is parabolically convex and zero on $\partial_p E$. Let M be the parabolic Monge-Ampère measure associated to u. Then there exists $C = C(\epsilon, n)$ such that

$$|u(x_0,t_0)|^{n+1} \leq C\delta((x_0,t_0),E(t_0))^{\epsilon} \int_{E_{t_0}} \delta((x,t_0),E(t_0))^{1-\epsilon} dM(x,t).$$

Proof Without loss of generality, multiply u by a positive constant so that $u(x_0, t_0) = -1$. Let $s_k = s2^{-k\beta}$ where s and β are positive and chosen to satisfy $\beta(n+1) \leq \epsilon$ and $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} s_k \leq \frac{1}{2}$. Let A denote the quantity

$$\delta((x_0, t_0), E(t_0))^{\epsilon} \int_{E_{t_0}} \delta((x, t_0), E(t_0))^{1-\epsilon} dM(x, t).$$

We want to show that $A \ge C(s)$, since s depends on ϵ and $|u(x_0, t_0)| = 1$. Let $E_k = \{(x,t) \in E : u(x,t) \le \lambda_k = -1 + s_1 + \cdots + s_k\}$. Define $E_0 = \{(x,t) \in E : u(x,t) \le -1\}$. Notice that $E_k \subset E_{k+1}$ for every k. The set E_k is bowl-shaped and $u|_{\partial_p E_k} = \lambda_k$. Fix t and let $\delta_k(t) = dist(\partial E_k(t), \partial E(t))$. Since $\delta_k(t) \not\to 0$ as $k \to \infty$ (if $\delta_k(t) \to 0$, then *u* would be smaller than $-\frac{1}{2}$ somewhere on the parabolic boundary of *E*), choose *k* to be the smallest nonnegative integer for which $\delta_{k+1}(t) > \frac{1}{2}\delta_k(t)$.

Let $(x_k, t) \in \partial E_k(t)$ be a point closest to $\partial E(t)$. Then as in the proof of Theorem 2.4.2, we have that

$$dist((x_k, t), \partial E_{k+1}(t)) < \frac{1}{2}\delta_k(t) < \delta_{k+1}(t).$$
(4.2)

Now apply Lemma 4.0.2 to the function $u(x, t) - \lambda_{k+1}$ on the set E_{k+1} to get

$$|u(x_k,t) - \lambda_{k+1}|^{n+1} \le C_n \delta((x_k,t), E_{k+1}(t)) |E_{k+1}(t_0)|_n M((E_{k+1})_t).$$

The point $(x_k, t) \in \partial E_k(t)$, so $u(x_k, t) = \lambda_k$ and $|u(x_k, t) - \lambda_{k+1}| = |\lambda_k - \lambda_{k+1}| = s_{k+1}$. Thus,

$$s_{k+1}^{n+1} \le C_n \delta((x_k, t), E_{k+1}(t)) | E_{k+1}(t)|_n M((E_{k+1})_t).$$
(4.3)

Let L_t be a shortest segment from (x_k, t) to $\partial E_{k+1}(t)$ and let $(z, t) \in \partial E_{k+1}(t)$ be the other endpoint. Let ρ denote $|L_t| = |x_k - z|$.

The set $E_{k+1}(t)$ is convex, so we can proceed as in the proof Theorem 2.4.2. The hyperplane Π (of dimension n-1) normal to L_t through (z,t) is a support plane for $E_{k+1}(t)$. Let Π' be the support plane parallel to Π on the opposite side of $E_{k+1}(t)$. so that $E_{k+1}(t)$ is contained between the two planes, and let $r = dist(\Pi, \Pi')$. Then since $E_{k+1}(t) \subset B_1(0) \times \{t\}$, there exists a constant C = C(n) such that $|E_{k+1}(t)|_n \leq Cr$ (In fact C is the volume of the unit ball in \mathbb{R}^{n-1}).

Let $T : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be an affine transformation normalizing $E_{k+1}(t)$. Then $dist(T(\Pi), T(\Pi')) \approx 1$ and $dist((Tx_k, t), T(\Pi)) \approx \frac{\rho}{r}$. Define $\tilde{T} : \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ by $\tilde{T}(x, t) = (Tx, t)$. By Lemma 2.3.3, we have:

$$\begin{split} \delta((x_k, t), E_{k+1}(t)) &= \delta((Tx_k, t), T(E_{k+1}(t))) \\ &\leq C dist((Tx_k, t), \partial T(E_{k+1}(t))) \\ &\leq C dist((Tx_k, t), T(\Pi)) \\ &\leq C \frac{\rho}{r}. \end{split}$$

Insert this into (4.3) to get

$$s_{k+1}^{n+1} \leq C\frac{\rho}{r} |E_{k+1}(t)|_n \mathcal{M}((E_{k+1})_t) \leq C\rho \mathcal{M}((E_{k+1})_t) < C\delta_{k+1}(t) \mathcal{M}((E_{k+1})_t).$$

where the last inequality holds since $\rho = dist((x_k, t), \partial E_{k+1}(t)) < \delta_{k+1}(t)$ from (4.2).

Therefore we have:

$$s_{k+1}^{n+1} < C\delta_{k+1}(t)M((E_{k+1})_t).$$
(4.4)

By the choice of k. $\delta_{k+1}(t) < \delta_k(t) \le 2^{-k}\delta_0(t)$. For some values of t. $\delta_0(t)$ might not be defined. This is the case when u > -1 on E(t). For $t = t_0$, $\delta_0(t)$ is defined. Since u is non-increasing in t. $\delta_0(t)$ is defined for any $t \ge t_0$. Take $t = t_0$.

Then $2^{-k}\delta_0(t_0) \leq C2^{-k}\delta((x_0, t_0), E(t_0))$ for a dimensional constant C. This is true since $\delta_0(t_0) \leq dist((x_0, t_0), \partial E(t_0))$ and the general fact that $dist(x, \partial E) \leq (diam(E))\delta(x, E)$. In this case $diam(E(t_0)) \leq 2$.

Therefore.

$$\begin{split} \delta_{k+1}(t_0) M((E_{k+1})_{t_0}) &= \delta_{k+1}(t_0)^{\epsilon} \delta_{k+1}(t_0)^{1-\epsilon} \int_{(E_{k+1})_{t_0}} dM(y,s) \\ &= \delta_{k+1}(t_0)^{\epsilon} \int_{(E_{k+1})_{t_0}} \delta_{k+1}(t_0)^{1-\epsilon} dM(y,s) \\ &\leq 2^{-k\epsilon} \delta((x_0,t_0),E(t_0))^{\epsilon} \int_{(E_{k+1})_{t_0}} \delta_{k+1}(t_0)^{1-\epsilon} dM(y,s) \\ &\leq 2^{-k\epsilon} \delta((x_0,t_0),E(t_0))^{\epsilon} \int_{(E_{k+1})_{t_0}} \delta((y,t_0),E(t_0))^{1-\epsilon} dM(y,s). \end{split}$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

The last inequality holds since

$$\delta_{k+1}(t_0) = dist(\partial E_{k+1}(t_0), \partial E(t_0)) \le dist((y, t_0), \partial E(t_0)) \le \delta((y, t_0), E(t_0))$$

for all $y \in E_{k+1}(t_0)$. Then from (4.4) we obtain that

$$s_{k+1}^{n+1} \le 2^{-k\epsilon} \delta((x_0, t_0), E(t_0))^{\epsilon} \int_{(E_{k+1})t_0} \delta((y, t_0), E(t_0))^{1-\epsilon} dM(y, s) \le 2^{-k\epsilon} A.$$

Now recall that

$$s_{k+1}^{n+1} = s^{n+1} 2^{-(n+1)(k+1)\beta} \ge s^{n+1} 2^{-\epsilon(k+1)}$$

since $\beta(n+1) \leq \epsilon$. Hence

$$s^{n+1}2^{-\epsilon(k+1)} \le 2^{-k\epsilon}A \Rightarrow s^{n+1} \le CA,$$

where C depends on ϵ , so $A \ge C(s)$ as desired. \Box

REFERENCES

- Caffarelli, L.A. 1990. A localization property of viscosity solutions to the Monge-Ampère equation and their strict convexity. Ann. of Math 131, 129-134.
- [2] Caffarelli, L.A. 1991. Some regularity properties of solutions of Monge-Ampère equation. Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 44, 965-969.
- [3] Gutiérrez, C.E. 2001. The Monge-Ampère Equation. Birkhauser. Boston.
- [4] Gutiérrez, C.E., and Huang, Q. 1998. A Generalization of a Theorem by Calabi to the Parabolic Monge-Ampère Equation. Indiana Univ. Math. Jour. 47, no. 4: 1459-1480.
- [5] Jerison, D. 1996. A Minkowski Problem for Electrostatic Potential. Acta Math. 176 : 1-47.
- [6] Pogorelov. A.V. 1978. The Minkowksi Multidimensional Problem.V.H. Winston and Sons, Washington.
- [7] Schneider, R. 1993. Convex Bodies: The Brunn-Minkowski Theory. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge.
- [8] Stein, E.M. 1993. Harmonic Analysis: Real-Variable Methods, Orthogaonality. and Oscillatory Integrals. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.